

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2021

# Perceived Selectivity as a Moderator of Cohesion and Resilience in USAF EOD Operators

Christopher Lee Townsend *Walden University* 

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Psychology Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

# Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Christopher Lee Townsend

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. James Herndon, Committee Chairperson, Psychology Faculty Dr. Derek Rohde, Committee Member, Psychology Faculty Dr. Lori LaCivita, University Reviewer, Psychology Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2020

#### Abstract

Perceived Selectivity as a Moderator of Cohesion and Resilience in USAF EOD

Operators

by

Christopher Lee Townsend

MPhil, Walden University, 2020

MS, Columbia Southern University, 2017

BS, University of Maryland University College, 2012

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Industrial and Organizational Psychology

Walden University

February 2021

#### Abstract

Stress in the workplace, especially for the military, has been a problem for decades. Between workplace stress, prolonged wars, and now a global pandemic, a need has arisen to find ways to ensure that increased stress does not lead to a decrease in mental health that could affect national security. The purpose of the study was to examine perceived selectivity as a moderator of cohesion and resilience in United States Air Force Explosive Ordnance Disposal (USAF EOD) operators. Using a quantitative correlational research design, 311 participants were found using social media to respond to an online survey. The research questions for the study addressed the relationship between dimensions of cohesion and resilience as well as perceived selectivity as a moderator of those relationships. The hypotheses were tested with multiple linear regression and moderation analysis. Overall regression models were significant, specifically perceived selectivity moderated the cohesion, resilience relationship, although the data did fail some statistical assumptions. Implications of this study are two-fold. First, the study could help drive the importance of explaining how selective a team is to EOD commanders. Second, this research can lead to more robust explorations of how the Social Identity Theory may drive the understanding of both cohesion and resilience, looking specifically at social cohesion and selectivity in broader populations, such as comparing different career fields. As the wars end and the military adjusts to living in a global pandemic, stress will continue to increase, and research focused on resilience may help military clinicians and commanders develop ways to inoculate military members against stress's negative health effects leading to positive social change.

Perceived Selectivity as a Moderator of Cohesion and Resilience in USAF EOD

Operators

by

Christopher Lee Townsend

MPhil, Walden University, 2020

MS, Columbia Southern University, 2017

BS, University of Maryland University College, 2012

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Industrial and Organizational Psychology

Walden University

February 2021

#### Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to my family. To my wife, Caroline, who saw me through this entire journey; your love, kindness, and support made this journey possible. To my mother, father, and brothers, without whom I would not be the man I am today. To my nieces and nephew, Kairi, Annie, Kaiden, and Alice, who keep me grounded and sane through all of life's challenges.

Finally, to my Explosive Ordnance Disposal family. Those with us and those without will always be a part of me. We all leave a part of ourselves in war, but for me, I came back with something too, a life of purpose and camaraderie with my EOD family, brothers, and sisters for life. It is through the closeness of the bonds formed through strife that we emerge as an indestructible force.

#### Acknowledgments

First, I want to thank my dissertation committee for all of the hard work they put in. To my dissertation chair, Dr. James Herndon, you have been an incredible mentor during my academic journey. When we first met, you gave me a "roundtoit" coin; I have kept that coin and ensured that I got around to it every day of my academic journey. Your candid and direct feedback was welcomed and made this process so much easier. To my committee member, Dr. Derek Rohde, you have provided me with incredible insight into the realm of scholarly research; I appreciate your help in this endeavor greatly. Thank you both for the efficient communication, direct feedback, and quick responses. I will always remember and be appreciative of your hard work.

To my loving wife, Caroline, thank you for all of your love and support. Without you, I could have never imagined this journey would be possible. You, Jethro, Gus, and Castiel have kept me focused, sane, and above all, happy no matter what life threw at us, including three moves and a global pandemic. Your patience, encouragement, and unrelenting support will forever be remembered. I thank you from the bottom of my heart and love you eternally.

To my family, you all made me who I am today. To my mother, I wished you could be here to celebrate my achievement; your love growing up gave me the resilience to know I could overcome anything. To my father, I hope you know how much watching you as I grew up gave me the grit to make me the man I am today. Thank you to my siblings Andrew, Miranda, and Justin; you guys have always been supportive and believed in me. Thank you to my second family, David, Cheryl, Bryan, and Sara, your support through this has been greatly appreciated. A special thank you to Kairi, Kaiden, Annie, and Alice; you four have kept a smile on my face even in the darkest corners of the world; I hope that you all find and follow your dreams wherever they may take you.

Finally, I want to thank my military family. To the leadership team at Nellis Air Force Base that made my involvement in the Career Intermission Program possible: Lieutenant Colonel Patrick Kolesiak, Colonel Matthew Boschert, and Brigadier General Paul Murray, I thank you for giving me this valuable time to follow my dream. To the Explosive Ordnance Disposal operators past and present, as well as their families that have taken me in, taught me everything I know, and gave me the most incredible experiences, I would like to express my deepest appreciation. Without my EOD family, I would not be where I am today; I will always be grateful and have a place in my heart for you all.

ist of Tablesv
ist of Figuresvi
hapter 1: Introduction to the Study1
Background2
Problem statement
Purpose6
Research Question and Hypotheses
Framework7
Nature of the Study
Definitions9
Assumptions9
Scope and Delimitations10
Limitations11
Significance11
Summary12
hapter 2: Literature Review14
Introduction14
Literature Search Strategy14
Theoretical Foundation15
Social Identity Theory15
Social Identity Theory and Cohesion

### Table of Contents

Social Identity Theory and Resilience	19
Cohesion	
Dimensionality	
Cohesion Antecedents	
Cohesion Outcomes	
Resilience in the Military	27
History	27
Global Military	
United States Military	
Resilience in the Air Force	
Summary and Conclusions	
Chapter 3: Research Methods	
Research Design and Rationale	
Methodology	
Population	
Sample Size	
Recruitment	
Instrumentation	
Data Collection and Analysis	
Threats to Validity	41
Threats to External Validity	41
Threats to Internal Validity	

Threats to Construct Validity	43
Ethical Procedures	44
Summary	45
Chapter 4: Results	47
Pilot Study	48
Data Collection	49
Measurement Reliability	49
Demographics	50
Study Results	53
Research Question 1	54
Research Question 2	58
Summary	67
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	68
Introduction	68
Interpretation of Findings	69
Cohesion and Resilience	69
Selectivity as a Moderator	70
Limitations of the Study	72
Recommendations	74
Implications	75
Conclusion	76
References	77

Appendix A: Recruitment Invitation	90
Appendix B: CD-RISC Permission for Use	91
Appendix C: Hiring Selectivity Scale Permission for Use	92
Appendix D: Informed Consent	93
Appendix E: Survey Exit Page	96

## List of Tables

Table 1. Frequency Table for Nominal Demographics of Participants	51
Table 2. Descriptive Statistics for Continuous Demographics of Participants	53
Table 3. Predictor Variable Collinearity Statistics	57
Table 4. Regression Statistics for Cohesion predicting for Resilience	57
Table 5. Predictor Variable and Moderator Collinearity Statistics	64
Table 6. Moderation Model Regression Statistics	66

## List of Figures

Figure 1. Histogram of standardized residuals for dimensions of cohesion and resilience
Figure 2. P-P scatterplot for normality of dimensions of cohesion and resilience
Figure 3. Scatterplot of standardized residuals of dimensions of cohesion and resilience56
Figure 4. Histogram of standardized residuals for task cohesion, selectivity, and resilience
Figure 5. P-P scatterplot for normality of task cohesion, selectivity, and resilience60
Figure 6. Scatterplot of standardized residuals of task cohesion, selectivity, and resilience
61
Figure 7. Histogram of standardized residuals for social cohesion, selectivity, and
resilience61
Figure 8. P-P scatterplot for normality of social cohesion, selectivity, and resilience62
Figure 9. Scatterplot of standardized residuals of social cohesion, selectivity, and
resilience62
Figure 10. Histogram of standardized residuals for individual attraction to group,
selectivity, and resilience
Figure 11. P-P scatterplot for normality of individual attraction to group, selectivity, and
resilience63
Figure 12. Scatterplot of standardized residuals of individual attraction to group,
selectivity, and resilience64
Figure 13. Social cohesion and resilience moderated by resilience

#### Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

According to CNBC's Kerri Renzulli (2019), the most stressful job in the United States is enlisted military personnel. Furthermore, PBS's Judy Woodruff (2018) noted Explosive Ordnance Disposal (EOD) as one of the most stressful and dangerous jobs in the military. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC; 2018) has stated that over 70% of adult workers in the United States have reported symptoms of stress. In addition, Park and Jang (2019) discussed job stress as a growing problem within the workplace and is correlated with a myriad of adverse health effects, which the CDC noted, result in billions of dollars spent on healthcare costs. The CDC further stated that the workplace is a primary location to address these issues, and as Park and Jang discussed, more research should be conducted on how to reduce job stress in the workplace.

According to Harvard Medical School (2017), the key to battling stress is resilience. McAndrew et al. (2017) noted a problem in understanding precisely what confers resilience in individuals, especially those in the military. To strengthen military members' resilience, one must understand the processes that drive resilience: it's antecedents and moderators to be specific. As Vanhove and Herian (2015) have discussed, one way to strengthen resilience and mental health is through team cohesion, but what may affect that relationship is still unknown, which is addressed with this study. In this chapter, the overall study, along with its focus, purpose, research questions, and hypotheses, will be outlined.

#### Background

Over sixty years ago, Festinger (1950) described in his seminal work on the topic that there is a field of forces that act upon groups to form teams known as cohesion. From this work, cohesion has been an actively researched topic driving innovation and change. Initially thought of as a unidimensional force, cohesion has been found to have many facets. Most recently, Beal et al. (2003) and Bayraktar (2017) have shown cohesion to have three main dimensions: task cohesion, social cohesion, and group pride. Each of these dimensions, and cohesion as a whole, are correlated with very impressive outcomes to include performance, job satisfaction, reduced turnover intention, and even lie detecting; but most notably to this study, cohesion is correlated with mental health and resilience (Beal et al., 2003; Black et al., 2019; Guchait et al., 2016; McHaney et al., 2018; Severt & Estrada, 2015; Susskind & Odom-Reed, 2019; Vanhove & Herian, 2015; Walsh et al., 2010). While there have been strides made in the past few decades as to what antecedents may drive the formation of cohesion, Vanhove and Herian have noted that with such a complex construct, more work is needed to understand each antecedent and moderator of cohesion relationships.

The driving concept of mental resilience has its roots in both physiological as well as psychological studies dating back to the 1800s but gained the name resilience as a concept in the 1990s as a panacea for stress and decreased mental health (Tusaie & Dyer, 2004). With wars in Iraq, Afghanistan, and Syria, American military troops faced combat, increasing stress, and decreasing mental health, which all contributed to the military increasing their focus on resilience as a remedy (Kemplin et al., 2019). The military has sponsored a majority of the longitudinal studies on resilience over the years, all focusing on strengthening resilience in military members that succumb to stress in increasingly violent and dangerous operations around the globe (Van Der Meulen et al., 2020). Even though many studies have been conducted looking at resilience, Georgoulas-Sherry and Kelly (2019) have noted more work must be done to understand this construct.

Both the concepts of resilience and cohesion can be brought together to help understand the social problem of stress in the workplace. Resilience is a way to battle stress and the many adverse health effects that stress brings. There have been numerous studies within the cohesion and the resilience realms of study that focus on trying to understand the concepts better, but it appears more work must be done in understanding each concept, how they interact, and how they can be used to battle workplace stress.

Vanhove and Herian (2015) discussed a positive link between how cohesive a team is and that team's individual well-being, including personal resilience. Also, both Vanhove and Herian and Severt and Estrada (2015) have noted a gap in current research on both the antecedents and moderators of the relationship between cohesion and resilience. This gap drives innovation for untested variables in cohesion and resilience research, notably selectivity. Selectivity is the act of a group being selective in obtaining membership. Kemplin et al. (2019) and Bartone et al. (2008) noted that more resilient people tend to complete rigorous selection processes. Still, no one has yet to look at the other side of selection, which considers how the individual perceives their team as being selective. A person can conduct a rigorous, multiple-hurdle, physical, and mental

selection process but not see their group as selective. At the same time, another individual can simply be placed on a team with no rigorous criteria and yet perceive their team as being highly selective. The perception of selectivity is what was looked at in this study, referenced now as perceived selectivity.

Tajfel and Turner's (1979) Social Identity Theory may hold a previously unresearched key to the relationship between cohesion and resilience through the perceived selectivity of the group. Tajfel and Turner's Social Identity Theory discussed the creation of teams based on similarities to the ingroup and favorable comparison to the outgroup. This theory may help us understand how an individual's perceived team selectivity may strengthen team cohesion by making more substantial comparisons to the outgroup, which may bolster resilience. This study is needed to address this gap in understanding of the mechanisms driving the link between cohesion and resilience in military teams, understand how the perception of team selectivity may strengthen that role, and become a building block for future research on other teams outside of the United States Air Force Explosive Ordnance Disposal (USAF EOD) operator community to develop understandings in how cohesion and resilience are formed in highly selective, elite teams.

#### **Problem statement**

Vanhove and Herian (2015) stated that individuals in cohesive teams have stronger mental health to include resilience, but Severt and Estrada (2015) discussed that there are questions as to how and why cohesion can affect specific correlates such as mental health and resilience. Jones et al. (2018), McAndrew et al. (2017), and Zang et al. (2017) all found positive relationships between cohesion and mental health; however, Vanhove and Herian discussed that future research is needed to look at what may moderate the relationship between cohesion and factors of individual wellbeing such as resilience.

Beal et al. (2003) and Castaño et al. (2013) have documented the link between cohesion and performance, but Severt and Estrada (2015) discussed the need to understand better the relationship between cohesion and other correlates such as individual wellbeing and resilience. Jones et al. (2018) and McAndrew et al. (2017) found that in a military population, cohesion was directly related to individual wellbeing and resilience, but McAndrew et al. specifically discussed the need to conduct similar research with other branches of the military other than the Army, as well as with activeduty members.

Bayraktar (2017), Marlowe et al. (2017), Tseng and Yeh (2013), and Zang et al. (2017) all have asserted that a direction of future research is to look at cohesion through other populations, especially outside of sports contexts. Furthermore, in their seminal work on the Social Identity Theory, Tajfel and Turner (1979) discussed how bonds form through inclusion into an exclusive group based on commonalities and differences in other groups. Tajfel and Turner's work indicates the possibility that the selectivity of a group may strengthen those ingroup bonds but has yet to be studied as a variable in cohesion research.

There are gaps in the current understanding of cohesion and resilience, all of their antecedents, the populations studied, what aspects of cohesion affect mental health, and

how cohesion and mental health are linked. Therefore, the problem that this study attempted to understand is the perceived selectivity-cohesion-resilience relationship as Vanhove and Herian (2015) discuss, to ascertain what antecedents of cohesion, such as perceived selectivity, may strengthen the cohesion-resilience relationship to address the social problem of workplace stress in a population such as USAF EOD teams. In this study, I endeavored to address the larger gap in team cohesion research by attempting to identify a previously unstudied variable, explicitly focusing on the relationship between team selectivity, cohesion, and resilience in a highly selective, elite, military community.

#### Purpose

The purpose of this dissertation study was to gather data to test the hypothesis that perceived selectivity would moderate the relationship between cohesion and resilience in USAF EOD operators. A quantitative approach was used to determine the extent to which perceived team selectivity moderated the relationship between team cohesion and resilience. The study's predictor variable was team cohesion, as measured by the Group Environment Questionnaire-Work Team Version. This study's outcome variable was the USAF EOD operator's individual resilience, measured by the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale (CD-RISC). Finally, the moderator variable was team selectivity, as measured by a modified version of the Hiring Selectivity Scale (HSS). As indicated by Vanhove and Herian (2015), more research needs to be conducted on the antecedents and moderators of the relationship between cohesion and resilience. Therefore, this study aimed to determine if perceived team selectivity moderated the relationship between team cohesion and resilience in elite USAF EOD teams.

#### **Research Question and Hypotheses**

RQ1: Does perceived team cohesion level predict individual resilience among USAF EOD Operators?

 $H_0$ 1: Perceived team cohesion level does not predict individual resilience among USAF EOD Operators.

 $H_a$ 1: Perceived team cohesion level predicts individual resilience among USAF EOD Operators.

RQ2: Does perceived team selectivity moderate the relationship between perceived team cohesion and individual resilience among USAF EOD Operators?

 $H_02$ : Perceived team selectivity does not moderate the relationship between perceived team cohesion and individual resilience among USAF EOD Operators.  $H_a2$ : Perceived team selectivity moderates the relationship between perceived team cohesion and individual resilience among USAF EOD Operators.

#### Framework

The theoretical framework that was used for this study is Tajfel and Turner's (1979) Social Identity Theory. Tajfel and Turner's theory is that groups are formed through three phases of social categorization, identification, and comparison. As Brown (2020) discussed, the Social Identity Theory is still widely used today and continues to apply to current team research (Barrick & Parks-Leduc, 2019; Bell & Brown, 2015; DiRosa et al., 2015; Luciano et al., 2018; Rapp & Mathieu, 2019). The foundation of the Social Identity Theory is groups that they have commonalities with, and then the group becomes a part of their social identity, binding the individuals together

through their shared interests (Brown, 2020). These processes create an ingroup and comparison groups or outgroups, which generate conflict by comparing themselves (Tajfel & Turner, 1979). While Tajfel and Turner discuss these processes involved in forming groups, they also discuss how they create the forces that bind the groups. Tajfel and Turner note that along with the cohesive forces of identity connecting the ingroup, the comparison to other groups also acts as a cohesion agent for the ingroup. Thus, the more prestigious or selective a group is, the more people want to be a part of the group both in number and desire, so the more cohesive they should be. Finally, as discussed by McAndrew et al. (2017), stronger social identification with a prestigious group will also lead to higher communication levels, a lack of avoidant coping, and resilience.

#### Nature of the Study

The study encompassed a quantitative, non-experimental correlational design. The survey method was used to measure each of the three target variables of perceived cohesion, perceived team selectivity, and resilience in a cross-sectional survey of USAF EOD Operators. The target population for this study was USAF EOD Operators. As Bayraktar (2017), Marlowe et al. (2017), and Tseng and Yeh (2013) have noted, there is a need for cohesion research to continue to obtain data from areas outside of the sports context. As discussed by Bartone et al. (2008) and Gucciardi et al. (2020), individuals with higher levels of initial resilience are generally selected into elite military teams. To focus on the proposed moderation effect of resilience derived from one's perception of their team's selectivity, it would be necessary then to conduct research specifically within one of these elite careers to account for these team's higher resilience levels. Therefore, this study's target population was Active Duty, Guard, and Reserve EOD Operators in the United States Air Force. The study's eligibility characteristics were U.S. Air Force EOD Operators, in good standing, who have graduated from Navy School EOD and are members of the Air Force Active Duty, Guard, or Reserve corps.

#### **Definitions**

The terms that need operational definitions for this study are the three primary variables of team cohesion, selectivity, and resilience. First, while there are many definitions of cohesion (Bayraktar, 2017), for this study, the predictor variable of team cohesion was defined as psychological bonds that form between members of a team (Severt & Estrada, 2015), or more simply as the glue that holds teams together (Bayraktar, 2017). The moderator variable of team selectivity was defined by the scale created by Trank et al. (2002) as limiting the acceptance into the group through procedure, education, skill, and abilities. The outcome variable of resilience was defined by Connor and Davidson (2003) as one's psychological ability to cope with stress or bounce back after trauma. Finally, USAF EOD operators are the bomb squad of the Air Force; their primary mission is to locate, make safe, and dispose of explosive hazards including conventional munitions as well as aircraft, chemical, biological, radiological, nuclear, and improvised explosive devices.

#### Assumptions

The primary assumptions of this study were due to the use of an online survey medium to collect data. Two assumptions are made when using an online survey to collect data. First, I assumed that the participants in the study met the criteria to participate. While there were specific criteria to participate, and the participant needed to answer the requirements questions favorably to have their data counted, participants can be untruthful. Furthermore, it was assumed that the participants were truthful in their answers to the survey questions. Also, as Kemplin et al. (2019) and Bartone et al. (2008) have discussed, those that already have a high level of resilience will pass through selection into highly selective teams such as special forces. While the USAF EOD career field is not special forces, it does have similarly rigorous selection standards that make it a highly selective career field; therefore, it was assumed that EOD, being a highly selective group, will already have a high level of resilience, which is why the group was not compared to other, less selective groups as a control measure. Each of these assumptions must be made to conduct an online survey study, but a strict review of participation criteria questions helped mitigate the problems that could have arisen from these assumptions.

#### **Scope and Delimitations**

The use of a highly selective population as a focus of this study was by design. As Kemplin et al. (2019) and Bartone et al. (2008) noted, those that pass through a rigorous selection process to become part of highly selective teams tend to be those that are already reasonably resilient. To focus on merely the perception of selectivity rather than the attraction of these selective fields to resilient people, I used a single population of one highly selective career field, in this case, USAF EOD operators. Due to the specific nature of the population, the results from this study will unlikely be generalizable to broader populations such as the military as a whole, but the results of the study may allow for future research into broader populations.

#### Limitations

It would be out of this study's scope to determine all antecedents and correlates of both cohesion and resilience. This study focused specifically on how perceived team selectivity is related to the two other variables of cohesion and resilience. Therefore, there is a limitation within the study that there could be confounding variables influencing the relationships being studied that may be unaccounted for. Furthermore, the implication of causation nor order was a limitation in the study as the study was not a controlled experiment and was cross-sectional rather than longitudinal. Designing an experiment or adding a longitudinal aspect would have introduced the need for more resources beyond the scope of the study; however, the resources needed for an experiment or longitudinal study could be justified with this study's results. Finally, I am a USAF EOD operator, which may prompt bias. To mitigate the bias, I collected data while not serving in the Armed Forces and used an online survey medium to collect data, so I was not present when participants were filling out their surveys.

#### Significance

This research project was unique through several different facets that build upon theory and findings in the current literature. First, the variable of team selectivity is novel. However, selectivity is rooted in Tajfel and Turner's (1979) Social Identity Theory, a theory that is still used in current team research (Barrick & Parks-Leduc, 2019; Bell & Brown, 2015; DiRosa et al., 2015; Luciano et al., 2018; Rapp & Mathieu, 2019). Second, the study was not focused solely on the sports context, a problem that was noted by Bayraktar (2017) in current cohesion research, but rather a previously unresearched population within the military of highly elite Bomb Squad Operators which could act as a bridge between elite athletes and the industrial organization. Furthermore, the study addressed all of the related variables combined, looking at perceived selectivity to team cohesion and resilience, which opened up the possibility of studying team selectivity as a moderator variable. Finally, the study attempted to address generalizability issues by recruiting a sample from a bridge population between the sports and organizational context.

The findings from the study built upon the continually growing area of team cohesion research. As more studies are conducted, researchers can better understand what variables build cohesive and resilient teams. A formerly unstudied antecedent to team cohesion was addressed in the study, and how the two variables of cohesion and perceived selectivity are related to resilience were also looked at. This research helped build on the current understanding of team cohesion, which may eventually be used to educate leaders on how to increase the perception of selectivity in their teams to promote increased resilience and reduced work stress.

#### Summary

Work stress is an epidemic that has plagued both the civilian and military world for quite some time. The military has had to deal with multiple conflicts and increased combat engagements that take a toll on the service members' mental health through increased stress. The military is ever-increasing its efforts to build resilience to combat this growing problem of stress. This study attempted to further our understanding of how resilience can be strengthened by understanding the possible links between the perceived selectivity of a team and team cohesion.

Chapter 2 will outline and analyze the current and seminal literature that is relevant to building the study. Each of the three primary variables will be further explored, described, and analyzed with the current research on each topic and how previous literature has connected them. The chapter will also include a current analysis of the Social Identity Theory and how it applies to the study.

#### Chapter 2: Literature Review

#### Introduction

The purpose of this quantitative study was to explore the relationships between team cohesion, perceived team selectivity, and resiliency. Chapter 2 will focus on the current scholarly literature that explains the concepts of cohesion, selectivity, and resilience, both in definition and development. Furthermore, the application of these concepts to the military population will be explained. The chapter begins with the development and relevance of the Social Identity Theory as the study's backbone. The concept of cohesion, dimensionality, and the current focus on studying varied populations are then explained. The development of the multidimensionality of cohesion will emerge the drive for understanding the antecedents of cohesion, such as selectivity, to understand the outcomes, such as resilience. Finally, the development of resilience will be described, along with the prevalence of the variable in military research.

#### **Literature Search Strategy**

Various search strategies were enlisted to find the necessary current and seminal works to build the study. Information was sourced through Walden University Library and Google Scholar services. The databases that were used from the Walden University Library to complete the literature search on the topic of Team Cohesion, Perceived Selectivity, Resilience, and Social Identity Theory were the ABI/INFORM Collection, Business Source Complete, Emerald Insight, SAGE Journals, PsycINFO, Academic Search Complete, and Taylor and Francis Online. These databases were scoured to find the most pertinent information available on the primary topics and theory. The keywords that were used to search within each of the databases mentioned above were Cohesion, Team Cohesion, Group Cohesion, Resilience, Hardiness, Meta-Analysis, Literature Review, Selectivity, Selective, Prestige, Exclusivity, and Elite. Along with the keywords, the results were limited to full-text, peer-reviewed articles that were published in 2015 or later, with searches of older publications reviewed to find seminal works. As prominent authors in the field were found, or specific articles were cited in the reading, searches were conducted specifically for those authors and articles as well. Furthermore, Google Scholar was used to search through the variable topics to add a facet to the knowledge gained and ensure a thorough analysis of current literature was conducted, focusing on current studies and finding seminal works.

#### **Theoretical Foundation**

#### **Social Identity Theory**

The theoretical framework that was used for this study is Tajfel and Turner's (1979) Social Identity Theory. As Brown (2020) discussed, the Social Identity Theory is still widely used today and continues to apply to current team research (Barrick & Parks-Leduc, 2019; Bell & Brown, 2015; DiRosa et al., 2015; Luciano et al., 2018; Rapp & Mathieu, 2019). The Social Identity Theory asserts that people tend to form groups based on factors they have in common and that groups are formed through three phases: social categorization, identification, and comparison (Tajfel & Turner, 1979). The Social Identity Theory foundation is that one joins groups or teams that they have commonalities with, the group identity is internalized and becomes a part of the person's social identity and binds the individuals together through their common interests and

comparison to other teams (Brown, 2020). Each of the Social Identity Theory components, from categorization through to identity development through to group or team comparison, is vital to the understanding of how selection may affect cohesion and resilience.

#### Categorization

Tajfel and Turner (1979) defined two distinct types of human social behavior: interpersonal and intergroup. Interpersonal behavior is motivated specifically through one's characteristics, while intergroup behavior is motivated only through one's membership in their social groups. While these are two distinct behaviors of people Tajfel and Turner asserted that neither one could fully be established in the physical world, one acts from motivations from both their characteristics and their memberships to different groups. It is the molding of these two behaviors where one finds the initial stage of developing a social identity through the team, which is categorization (Tajfel & Turner, 1979). Brown (2020) defined categorization as being classified into a group through similarity or selection and then internalizing the group's ideals into one's identification. Identification is internalizing the group identity into the individual's identity and is the second phase of the Social Identity Theory (Tajfel & Turner, 1979). *Identification* 

After categorization, individuals are selected into their group based on their commonalities and view their group positively, which acts as a bonding agent between the individuals within the team (Tajfel & Turner, 1979). This bonding or force that binds the group together is what Festinger (1950) described as team cohesion. The groups or

teams that are formed through commonality are then known as ingroups. As Brown (2020) described, individuals in groups desire to see themselves positively and search for this positive distinction when they interact with and compare themselves to other groups, which is the final phase of the Social Identity Theory.

#### Comparison

One critical aspect of the ingroup/outgroup behaviors that Tajfel and Turner (1979) discussed is comparison and competition. Tajfel and Turner noted that groups compare themselves to other groups, which affects the level of prestige they feel through their social identity; positive comparisons give high prestige, and negative comparisons elicit low prestige. It is through this intergroup conflict that intragroup behaviors emerge, such as morale and cohesiveness supporting an individual's identification with and attachment to the group (Tajfel & Turner, 1979). According to Tajfel and Turner (1979), the comparison groups must be seen as a relevant comparison to the ingroup, though, either through a situation, proximity, or similarity. The cohesion then in the ingroup is strengthened by their superior comparison to their peer group, which could be strengthened through individuals' perceived selectivity to the ingroup. The feeling of exclusivity from being selected over those in the outgroup possibly gives the members of the ingroup a feeling of being elite that may strengthen their cohesive bonds. In this study, the relevant comparison groups were the rest of the military, especially those military occupations that do not have a rigorous selection process as do EOD Operators or Special Forces.

#### **Social Identity Theory and Cohesion**

Tajfel and Turner (1979) discussed the processes involved in creating and sustaining groups; they also discussed how these processes create the forces that bind the groups. Festinger (1950) discussed this line of thinking, defining cohesion as a series of forces acting upon the group that keeps the individual members together. Tajfel and Turner noted that along with the cohesive forces of identity connecting the ingroup, the comparison to other groups also acts as a cohesion agent. Thus, the more prestigious or selective a group is, the more people want to be a part of the group both in number and desire, so the more cohesive they are (Festinger, 1950). As Brown (2020) discussed, this intergroup behavior phenomenon is based on the assumption that people tend to see themselves in a positive light and garners this force of cohesion amongst them, especially when they are viewed as superior to their comparison teams. It is through these cohesion forces that act on the ingroup that Brown noted the Social Identity Theory moved on from not simply explaining intergroup behavior, but intragroup behavior as well.

Rapp and Mathieu (2019) discussed using the Social Identity Theory to understand cohesion through teams and multigroup behavior, or the behavior between teams. Rapp and Mathieu asserted that the intermixing of an individual within multiple teams, such as being a part of the marketing department and then a specific marketing team, drove the development of one's identity. Rapp and Mathieu noted that there had been a lack of focus on the perceptions of individual team members and their outcomes as part of work teams rather than team-level outcomes. Furthermore, Rapp and Mathieu found that the prestige of a project that one was working on is highly correlated to the team's level of cohesion. The possible link between project prestige and cohesion may show that prestige that could be found as part of a selective team may also drive cohesion.

#### **Social Identity Theory and Resilience**

Even though the Social Identity Theory is traditionally a social psychology theory, it has significant implications outside of that field, specifically with organizational research (Brown, 2020). A significant development in Social Identity Theory over the years has been the application of it to health and wellbeing, mainly how groups help foster resilience (Brown, 2020; Drury et al., 2016). Through the positive comparison to an outgroup of a superior ingroup, an increase in an individual's wellbeing will be prompted (Brown, 2020). Hogg et al. (2017) also discussed overall health and harmony arising from a balance between fulfilling a need for inclusion and being a part of the ingroup, while also having positive comparisons with an outgroup. Inoue (2015) found another correlation between well-being and identity, discovering that those with a strong group identity had higher levels of social support through community cohesion. However, more research is needed to understand how team membership and cohesion can foster such curative properties in an individual's mental health, such as resilience. Brown noted that it was the original aspect of the individual searching for distinctiveness through their group to promote positive self-esteem that prompts this application of Tajfel and Turner's (1979) theory to the mental health and resilience fields.

#### Cohesion

As Festinger (1950) described in his seminal work, cohesion is an accumulation of forces acting on individuals to remain in a team. This force is applied through multiple mechanisms and is generally viewed as multidimensional, although some have studied it as a unidimensional concept (Bayraktar, 2017). The concept of cohesion is generally split into task and social dimensions, but this also has been a somewhat contested view of the concept, with researchers finding more than two dimensions or researching cohesion unidimensional (Bayraktar, 2017; Severt & Estrada, 2015; Von Treuer et al., 2018). Furthermore, many researchers have looked into many outcomes for teams that have cohesion to include performance, job satisfaction, and resilience. Finally, while research has been conducted to find the outcomes of cohesion, much has been done on the antecedents of cohesion as well.

#### Dimensionality

Cohesion research has had a long and comprehensive history of looking at the link between cohesion and its most studied outcome, performance (Beal et al., 2003). Severt and Estrada (2015), however, have noted the lack of research as well as a clear understanding of cohesion's structure and function. One of the contested concepts referenced by Severt and Estrada, and Bayraktar (2017) is the dimensionality of cohesion. There are some agreements in the literature between some of the more specific dimensions of cohesion (Bayraktar, 2017), but most agree on the multidimensionality of the concept as well as a Task and Social dimension (Carron & Brawley, 2000). Bayraktar and Von Treuer et al. (2018) found that there were about five different dimensions of cohesion through a qualitative study. Both Bayraktar and Von Treuer et al. found somewhat different results in their latest attempt at understanding the dimensionality of cohesion, although each of their dimensions can be associated with the Social or Task labels. While Bayraktar and Von Treuer et al. have found mixed results, the meta-analysis conducted by Castaño et al. (2013) reaffirmed the dimensions of Task and Social Cohesion as the most generally agreed upon and are most frequently used dimensions in the literature, as Severt and Estrada also discuss; therefore, they were the primary dimensions of concern for this study.

It is evident in the literature that even when cohesion is viewed as a multidimensional concept, it is still being researched based on only one of the agreed subdimensions. For example, Kim (2016) found that positive trait affect increased task cohesion in a sample of 66 work teams, but failed to look at whether positive trait affect effected social cohesion. Kim discussed the differences in dimension and used the Group Environment Questionnaire (GEQ), which has a social cohesion subscale, but did not collect any data on the other dimensions of cohesion to understand whether positive trait affects and autonomy influenced social cohesion. A final example would be Black et al. (2019), who conducted a study with student work teams on cohesion but failed to discuss the dimensionality of cohesion at all. It is crucial when studying cohesion not only to discuss the most agreed upon dimensionality of the construct, as will be done in the next few sections, but also to conduct the research and give the results of a study based on the dimensions of cohesion as discussed by Severt and Estrada (2015) and Casey-Campbell and Martens (2009).

#### Task Cohesion

Task cohesion is formed within the team as a shared desire to effectively complete its shared goal (Severt & Estrada, 2015). Task cohesion has had strong results as the dimension of cohesion is most strongly related to performance (Mathieu et al., 2019). Mathieu et al. (2019) found a higher correlation of task cohesion to team performance (p=.30) in their meta-analytic study, much higher than the correlation of general cohesion and performance (p=.21); Castaño et al. (2013) found similar results, showing that in some instances the different dimensions of cohesion can influence different outcomes. As Courtright et al. (2017) noted, task cohesion is focused mostly on goal pursuit and goal attainment, which logically makes sense why task cohesion is generally linked with performance and team effectiveness. Task Cohesion is not only linked to performance and team effectiveness, while it is more strongly linked to performance characteristics, but some research has also linked cohesion to other outcomes, to include mental health, or at the very least the dimensions of cohesion were not expressly divided to find whether each dimension of cohesion had different correlations to specific outcomes.

Cohesion research, as mentioned earlier, has a problem with consistency in dimensionality. Because of this problem, there are possibilities where task cohesion could be more strongly linked with outcomes outside of the realm of performance or effectiveness. In the study conducted by Urien et al. (2017), they viewed cohesion as a two-dimensional concept and found both Task and Social cohesion to be significantly and independently correlated to job satisfaction. Alternatively, Zang et al. (2017) found a
link between social cohesion and mental health but left out task cohesion and did not explain it missing from the research or why a more comprehensive view of cohesion was not studied, even given the fact that the greater research community sees cohesion as multidimensional (Beal et al., 2003; Castaño et al., 2013; Festinger, 1950; Severt & Estrada, 2015). If we are to understand how mental health outcomes are tied to cohesion, we must view cohesion cohesively and look at each dimension independently and as a whole to understand this phenomenon.

# Social Cohesion

Festinger (1950) discussed social cohesion as being the attraction one has to the group that they have become a part of, essentially whether or not the individuals like each other as discussed by McLeod and Von Treuer (2013), or the social bonds formed between team members as discussed by Severt and Estrada (2015). As one would surmise, this dimension of cohesion has been linked more often to mental health outcomes over performance outcomes such as positive affect, satisfaction, happiness, and other types of subjective well-being (Vanhove & Herian, 2015). As an example, Zang et al. (2017) found cohesion to be correlated, along with other measures of personal resources, with positive mental health outcomes. Zang et al. found within a sample of military members experiencing PTSD symptoms that the variable of personal resources, which includes unit social cohesion, reduces negative post-traumatic cognitions, which lowers PTSD severity. Furthermore, Griffith (2015) found unit cohesion, specifically in the social dimension, to reduce suicidal thoughts after combat exposure in a group of 4,567 soldiers returning from war. Unfortunately, as discussed by Griffith, the study did

focus primarily on social cohesion and should have incorporated a more comprehensive operational definition of cohesion to include task cohesion to have more complete results.

## **Cohesion Antecedents**

Just as there is a myriad of outcomes from cohesion, many variables act as antecedents to the phenomena. First, as Tajfel and Turner (1979) discussed, the increase of prestige or possibly selectivity of the group may influence cohesion, which was looked at in this study. Kim (2016) found that autonomy played a mediating role in the link of positive affect and task cohesion in a sample of 66 work teams in South Korea. Kim discussed the differences in dimension and used the GEQ, which has a social cohesion subscale but did not collect any data on the other dimensions of cohesion to understand whether positive trait affects and autonomy influenced social cohesion. In addition, Black et al. (2019) found self-efficacy and emotional intelligence to precede and positively influence cohesion in a longitudinal study of 35 student business teams, measuring cohesion as a unidimensional concept. Furthermore, Bandura et al. (2019) linked authentic leadership as an antecedent to task cohesion in a study of 338 athletes. Another antecedent of cohesion is how many connections one makes within the group. Susskind and Odom-Reed (2019) found, through self-reporting, that 52 members within 12 university project teams exhibited higher cohesion when they had less degree centrality within an alliance, meaning fewer connections to the alliance meant deeper communications within teams and higher cohesion.

One commonality between all of these antecedent studies was that they focused specifically on one type of cohesion, or cohesion as a unidimensional concept. Some of

the researchers admittedly studied a specific dimension of cohesion but did not measure cohesion through the lens of multidimensionality or give data to show whether one dimension or another was significant. All of the researchers consistently go against the cohesion framework discussed by Severt and Estrada (2015) as well as Festinger (1950) in that cohesion is a multidimensional construct and should be studied as such, a problem that was addressed in this study.

# **Cohesion Outcomes**

In Festinger's (1950) seminal work on cohesion, he discussed one of the outcomes of cohesion as having a higher level of similarity in highly cohesive groups' attitudes and behavior. This alignment of attitudes and behavior that Festinger discussed can be seen as a foundation for the many outcomes of cohesion that have been found to date. Among all of the outcomes linked to cohesion, performance is by far the most researched (Beal et al., 2003; Black et al., 2019; Severt & Estrada, 2015; Susskind & Odom-Reed, 2019; Vanhove & Herian, 2015). Performance is not the only benefit of cohesion, though. Cohesion has also been linked to an increase in job satisfaction (Walsh et al., 2010), a decrease in turnover intention (Guchait et al., 2016), learning (Lott & Lott, 1966) even the detection of deception (McHaney et al., 2018). Another set of outcomes that has garnered research beyond performance is within the field of individual psychology. Vanhove and Herian (2015) noted that while there has been abundant research into the cohesion performance relationship, there has been little research into the link between cohesion and individual well-being.

Vanhove and Herian (2015) and Chan (2019) discussed the lack of research into cohesion and individual wellbeing, but that does not mean there has been no research into the topic. Layman et al. (2019) studied the topic of both intimate partner and military unit cohesion as it relates to resilience. They found within a sample of 273 active-duty military members that increased cohesion within their unit was correlated with positive wellbeing, although they did not measure cohesion dimensions independently, use a robust cohesion measurement, nor specifically test resiliency only overall wellbeing (Layman et al., 2019). Furthermore, Choi et al. (2019) found similar results to well-being in a sample of 3,079 soldiers returning from a combat deployment. After measuring genetic susceptibility to major depression disorder, Choi et al. found that even soldiers highest at risk for a depressive episode were less likely to have one when they reported high levels of unit cohesion, but again this measurement of cohesion was not broken down into multiple dimensions, and while they measure and analyze resilience it is as a separate variable and not a variable linked to cohesion. Cohesion is linked with individual wellbeing, as Vanhove and Herian (2015) initially discussed, but there is room for additional research. Primarily future research should be focused on linking cohesion with specific aspects of individual wellbeing such as resilience, cohesion research needs to break down the individual dimensions of cohesion, and finally, the antecedent of selectivity should be looked at to provide a better picture of how the Social Identity Theory can further the understanding of the cohesion concept.

## **Resilience in the Military**

Resilience has had many definitions over the years, but the core definition of the concept is rather stable as the ability for one to bounce back or cope significantly with adversity and stress and is sometimes referred to as hardiness (Kemplin et al., 2019; 1993; Tusaie & Dyer, 2004). As discussed by Tusaie and Dyer (2004), resilience began through both physiological studies of homeostasis in the 1920s and Psychological studies of unconscious defense mechanisms from the 1800s. Both schools of thought began to overlap in the '50s and '60s through emotional stress and coping as well as in the '70s and '80s through brain plasticity and protective mental health factors (Tusaie & Dyer, 2004). The concept evolved into what it is today through psychoneuroimmunology in the 1980s and, finally, resilience as a concept in the 1990s (Tusaie & Dyer, 2004). With the surge of troops deployed over the recent past to the war on terror in Iraq, Afghanistan, and Syria, and the resulting surge of stress-induced mental health issues, the United States Military has focused on resilience to help ensure the protection of their most valuable assets (Bryan et al., 2015).

### History

The United States military has taken an aggressive approach to resilience in recent years, focusing on resilience as a panacea for many mental health ailments that come with stress and combat exposure (Kemplin et al., 2019). The entirety of the military has some focus on resilience, and it comes in many names as the concept has evolved. Whether it is called hardiness training, military family readiness, or the U.S. Army's current program Ready and Resilient, the whole of the military has a focus on being and becoming resilient (Army Resilience Directorate, n.d.). For the Air Force, resilience training and programs have evolved over the years to become what is known as Integrated Readiness through Comprehensive Airmen Fitness and Task Force True North, a comprehensive program to ensure the growth and resilience of the members of the Air Force, under the direction of the Department of the Air Force Integrated Resilience Directorate (Air Force Resilience, n.d.). Task Force True North is the current Air Force program inspired by the Special Operations Command's Preservation of the Force and Family. Over the years, there have been numerous resilience studies specifically focusing on the military to include the Air Force, Air Force families, and those that have increased stress due to operational workload or combat experiences (Dixon & Bares, 2018).

# **Global Military**

While many studies focus on the United States military, there are still studies showing the effects of resilience on militaries worldwide. One way that resilience has been shown to have a panacea effect on mental health and stress reduction in non-US militaries is through the increase of positive coping styles. Researchers for the Chinese Air Force found, through a study of 697 military members, that resilience was tied to the increase of positive coping styles, which allowed the military members to effectively deal with the psychological stress of military operations and life that cause negative mental health responses (Zhao et al., 2020). Furthermore, Thomassen et al. (2015) found that resilience and cohesion contributed to the increase in stress resilience in a longitudinal study of 144 Norwegian soldiers deployed to Kosovo. Both of these studies aimed to understand resilience in non-US military populations, and both found significant results relating to the positive effects of resilience. Thomassen et al. specifically noted the possibility that military members may be more resilient because the military attracts more resilient people; on the other hand, the present study assessed whether it is the perception of selectivity onto the team that promotes this increase in resilience.

An interesting finding by Gucciardi et al. (2020) was that there was a link between resilience or mental toughness and stress reduction in special forces selection, which is in line with current research on the topic (Kemplin et al., 2019). Bartone et al. (2008) also found that resilience was a predictor of successful matriculation of a special forces selection course after studying a group of 1,138 special forces candidates. A limitation that was noted by Gucciardi et al. was that mental toughness was not measured throughout the selection course, opening the possibility that resilience is not only a determinate of selection as discussed by Kemplin et al. and Bartone et al., but could be increased through the cohesion that is garnered through the selection process itself as suggested by the Social Identity Theory.

#### **United States Military**

The United States military has, by far, the current majority of military-related resilience studies across the globe, with 20 longitudinal studies focused on long term effects of resilience in U.S. military members (Van Der Meulen et al., 2020). One of the most recent longitudinal military resilience studies found over two years that a sample of 2,157 military veterans both exhibited a high level of resilience for being exposed to trauma as well as linking a wide array of health benefits to being psychologically resilient

(Isaacs et al., 2017). Furthermore, Williams et al. (2016) found both unit cohesion and resilience to effect psychological distress and stress tolerance in a sample of 1,939 Army trainees in basic combat training. Both of these researchers used the CD-RISC as the measurement of resilience, showing the measure's acceptance as a good tool for the study of the concept.

# **Resilience in the Air Force**

Air Force specific studies have shed a great deal of light on understanding resilience and how resilience can affect military personnel. As discussed by Van Der Meulen et al. (2020), there have been two recent studies specifically focusing on U.S. Air Force members, both of which have used the CD-RISC as a measure for resilience. Bezdjian et al. (2017) conducted a study with 53,692 over two years to better understand the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale's psychometric properties. The researchers found that the CD-RISC was a psychometrically sound predictor of resilience and that the military members who exhibited a higher level of resilience than others were more likely to complete their first six months in the Air Force. Unfortunately, resilience scores were not measured after completing basic training, which would indicate whether or not resilience increased as a result of being selected and retained into the Air Force team. McNally et al. (2011), however, found that resilience was not correlated to posttraumatic stress disorder in a case of 144 deployed Air Force medics contradicting Pietrzak et al. (2009) findings in a sample of 272 military veterans, but a small sample size and lack of personnel that developed PTSD may have attributed to the findings. It is important to note that Van Der Meulen et al. (2020) specifically discussed the possibility for the

resilience effect to be stronger in military forces that are faced with higher levels of adversity, which would be true for the United States Air Force EOD career field, whose motto is *Initial Success or Total Failure*. According to Van Der Meulen et al., this level of increased daily adversity faced by these operators should provide a stronger effect size in resilience.

## **Summary and Conclusions**

There is a myriad of studies on cohesion, the salient effects of resilience, as well as both of their antecedents and outcomes, all of which coalesce into an understanding that resilience can and does help solve the problem of stress in the military. The question remains as to how resilience can be strengthened within the military, which is where cohesion and selection become a factor. By understanding that resilience can help reduce stress and negative mental health outcomes in the military, one can focus on increasing the prevalence and strength of this construct, using the Social Identity Theory to understand if selection may be a value-added variable to the current literature on resilience through unit cohesion. Chapter 3 will provide the method and approach that was used to address this question.

#### Chapter 3: Research Methods

The purpose of this quantitative, non-experimental study was to determine whether or not perceived selectivity moderated the relationship between cohesion and resilience in USAF EOD operators. The research design of the dissertation study to include rationale, population, and sampling procedures will be outlined in the following chapter. Furthermore, each of the three measures will be described and rationalized; the operationalization of the variables will be defined along with the data analysis plan, threats to validity, and finally, ethical concerns.

#### **Research Design and Rationale**

The goal of this study was to understand how perceived team selectivity impacts the relationship between cohesion and resilience in USAF EOD operators using a correlational research design. The study had three primary variables. The predictor variable in the study was team cohesion, as measured by the Group Environment Questionnaire-Work Team Version. The outcome variable in this study was the USAF EOD operator's resilience, as measured by the CD-RISC. Finally, the moderator variable was team selectivity, as measured by a modified version of the HSS. All three of these primary variables will be operationalized later in the chapter.

The correlational research design was used for this study because of its popularity within the current cohesion and resilience literature (Bayraktar, 2017; Marlowe et al., 2017; Tseng & Yeh, 2013). The non-experimental nature of current cohesion and resilience research is pronounced and is primarily due to the need to further the understanding of the nature of variables correlated to cohesion and resilience, which this

study was designed to provide (McAndrew et al., 2017; Severt & Estrada, 2015; Vanhove & Herian, 2015). After careful collection of antecedents, moderating, and mediating variables associated with cohesion and resilience, more robust theories can be generated, and experimental designs can start to be cost-effective to test those theories.

### Methodology

# **Population**

The target population for the study was EOD operators in the United States Air Force. Congress and Air Force end-strength requirements determine the total population of USAF EOD operators, including Active Duty, Reserve, and National Guard forces, so this number may fluctuate. In the past 5 fiscal years, the authorized population has been between 1,200 and 1,300 and has recently achieved a higher than 90% manning level both within the last 2 fiscal years and projected through the next 2 fiscal years, indicating that the overall population is within 1,100 and 1,200 operators. For this study, the population was estimated at the projected total authorized manning level of 1,301 for the 2022 fiscal year. With varying levels of both authorized and achieved manning within the EOD career field, using the authorized manning level for estimated sample sizes will ensure estimates for power and effect size will be practical.

#### Sample Size

Past research with the variables of cohesion and resilience has indicated a relationship between the two with effect sizes between .16 and .26 with an average of the six being .21 (Bartone et al., 2002; Howell et al., 2018; Layman et al., 2019; McAndrew et al. 2017; Steinhardt et al., 2003; Thomassen et al., 2015). After a power analysis was

conducted for a multiple regression analysis using the anticipated effect size of .21, a power of .8, two predictors and an alpha level of .05, the minimum required sample size for the study will need to be at least 49, with 63 being the sample size required for the smallest observed effect size of .16. Considering the results of the studies conducted by Aguinis (1995) and Aguinis and Stone-Romero (1997), a larger sample size will be required though. Aguinis (1995) noted that even medium to large moderation effect sizes were difficult to achieve in samples of less than 120, while Aguinis and Stone-Romero (1997) noted a sample size of 300 was optimal for moderated multiple regression analysis. Therefore, the target sample size for the proposed study was 300, with a sample size of 120 being acceptable.

#### Recruitment

To obtain a sample of USAF EOD operators, who are geographically separated and assigned to Air Force bases worldwide, a social media campaign was used. Social media is the easiest way to reach the entire population of USAF EOD operators and obtain a convenience sample of those that decide to participate. The invitation to participate in the study was broadcast on my personal Social Media page (n=120, USAF EOD). I requested the invitation to be shared throughout the USAF EOD community and posted to the group pages of *Air Force EOD* and *USAF EOD*. The recruitment invitation was the same whether shared on my social media or posted to any of the Air Force EOD social media pages and is provided in Appendix A. With the small, tight-knit community, it is believed that these social media actions, along with word-of-mouth to those without social media access, allowed the invitation to reach nearly all USAF EOD operators that met the following participation criteria.

- 1. Participants must have been an adult, over 18 years old.
- Participants must have been in the United States Air Force at the time of completing the survey.
- Participants must have been active members of their component service (Active Duty, Reserve, National Guard), not separated at the time of completing the survey.
- Participants must have graduated from Navy School Explosive Ordnance Disposal.
- 5. Participants must not have been facing any unfavorable military personnel actions such as Uniformed Code of Military Justice violations or have a current Unfavorable Information File or be on a Control Roster at the time of completing the survey (The psychological separation from the team could affect cohesion and resilience levels).

# Instrumentation

The specific information for each of the three measures used for the study will be outlined in the following paragraphs as will each of the variable's operational definition. Perceived selectivity was measured using a modified version of the HSS, cohesion was measured using the GEQ-Work Team Version, and resilience was measured using the CD-RISC. Only one of the measures is copyrighted, the CD-RISC, and permission was obtained from the current owner (Appendix B). The permission obtained for the CD- RISC is only for its use, and due to copyright protection, the full scale cannot be included for publication. Each of the other measures is in the public domain, and all efforts to contact the original creators of the GEQ were unsuccessful; however, the author of the HSS was able to be contacted as a courtesy, and the original scale was obtained (Appendix C).

# Group Environment Questionnaire

Team cohesion was defined as the psychological bonds that form between team members made up of task cohesion, social cohesion, and individual attraction to group, which was measured by the work team revision of the GEQ. The GEQ was originally developed by Widmeyer et al. (1985) for sports teams and was revised by Carless and De Paola (2000) for use in work teams with alpha coefficients of .74, .81, and .63 on task cohesion, social cohesion, and individual attraction to group respectively. Initially, Widmeyer et al. developed the GEQ as an 18-item four-factor measure, but later, Carless and De Paola were unable to replicate the four-factor model and used factor analysis to develop the revised work team version of the GEQ as a 10-item, three-factor model. The measurement consists of 10 items, split into four items assessing task cohesion, four items assessing social cohesion, and two items assessing individual attraction to the group. Each item is answered on a nine-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 9 (strongly agree). The scale consisted of several reverse coded items and was scored as a sum for each dimension (Carron, Brawley, & Widmeyer, 2002). This study incorporated the sum of the scores under each dimension, and each dimension was

analyzed independently. An example item from the measure is "*I'm unhappy with my team's desire to win*" (Carless & De Paola, 2000).

#### Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale

Resilience was defined as the ability to cope with stress or bounce back after trauma and was measured using the CD-RISC. The CD-RISC is a measure developed by Connor and Davidson (2003) to assess resilience. The measure was initially developed as a 25-item scale and had multiple variants. The original 25-item scale was used in the study. Each of the 25 items is rated on a five-point scale, higher scores representing a higher resilience level. The participant answers questions such as "I am able to adapt when changes occur" on a scale from 0 (not true at all) to 4 (true nearly all the time). The scores are then added together with a range from 0-100 with higher scores indicating higher resilience, and no items are reverse coded. Connor and Davidson (2003) found an initial test-retest reliability with a correlation coefficient of .87 and an internal consistency measured by Cronbach's  $\alpha$  of .89 for the general population. Furthermore, Connor and Davidson found convergent validity for their scale using the Kobasa hardiness measure, Perceived Stress Scale, and the Sheehan Stress Vulnerability Scale. Finally, it is important to note that the CD-RISC is copyrighted, and as such, the full scale cannot be published.

## Hiring Selectivity Scale

Team selectivity is defined as limiting the acceptance into a team through procedure, education, skill, and abilities. How selective a team is, selectivity is a difficult construct to measure. Only one current measurement scale on the construct has been found to date, which may effectively measure selectivity. In part of their study on attracting new job applicants, Trank et al. (2002) developed the HSS to measure the participant's attraction to an employer based on the level of selectivity the hiring body has for a specific job; this measure has an alpha coefficient of .70. Trank et al. used this measure on a group of 378 business students with a mean score of 4.04 and a standard deviation of .46 to understand their desire to obtain a selective job. While the first measure was used to measure intent, and this has been the only known use of the scale, it represents the construct of team selectivity well as it consists of items ranging from general to specific selection requirements. The general selection question simply asks if the agency is very selective about how it hires, while an example of a specific question would be how selective the team is concerning the member's knowledge, skills, and abilities. The scale consists of six items rated with a five-point scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to (strongly agree). The scores are averaged, with a higher average score indicating a higher level of selectivity. To lower scale coarseness and increase power, as discussed by Aguinis (1995), the scores were summed as opposed to averaged, giving a range of 6-30.

While the current measure is focused on the selectivity of hiring for a job, I revised the measure to indicate selectivity for a team rather than a job. This revision only minimally changed the overall measure. The changes simply reflect a move from intent to observation and a move from job applicant to team membership. For example, I changed the first statement, "I want to work for a firm that screens job applicants carefully in terms of knowledge, skills, and abilities," to "I am part of a team that selects

members carefully in terms of knowledge, skills, and abilities." The term *I want to work for a firm* that is consistent throughout the measure was changed to *I am part of a team*, and the term *job applicants* was changed to *team members* to convey the focus on team selectivity as opposed to hiring selectivity. Finally, the instructions were changed to reflect the focus on how selective the participant's team currently is as opposed to the preference for one to choose an organization based on how selective the hiring process is.

# **Data Collection and Analysis**

### Collection

The survey invitation sent out through social media provided a link to the measures through the website Survey Monkey. The first page of the survey provided informed consent, as seen in Appendix D, to the participant and was required to be acknowledged before collecting data from the participant. The participant's privacy was of utmost importance, so the data collected did not include any identifiable information such as name or the participant's current base or unit assigned to, which was explained in the survey's informed consent page. After informed consent is provided, the next page ensured participants met the criteria for participation. Demographic information was then be collected to include the participant's age, gender, rank, current component (active duty, guard, reserve), time in service, time in EOD, number of deployments either combat or supportive, time on station (to evaluate time with current team), and their individual perception of team selectivity. The perception of team selectivity question will be discussed further in the next section on threats to validity. Furthermore, each of the three measures used in this dissertation was converted to an online survey format and was

completed by the participant after the demographic data, on separate pages. After the data was collected, the participant was given an exit page giving my email address for any further needed contact or questions and being thanked for their time and that their data is private, ensuring that no identifiable information was taken from them (Appendix E).

# **Research Questions and Hypothesis**

The study was designed to answer the research questions listed below, along with their hypotheses.

RQ1 – Does perceived team cohesion level predict individual resilience among USAF EOD Operators?

 $H_{o1}$ -Perceived team cohesion level does not predict individual resilience among USAF EOD Operators.

 $H_{a1}$  - Perceived team cohesion level predicts individual resilience among USAF EOD Operators.

RQ2 – Does perceived team selectivity moderate the relationship between perceived team cohesion and individual resilience among USAF EOD Operators?

 $H_{o2}$  – Perceived team selectivity does not moderate the relationship between perceived team cohesion and individual resilience among USAF EOD Operators.  $H_{a2}$  - Perceived team selectivity moderates the relationship between perceived team cohesion and individual resilience among USAF EOD Operators.

# Analysis

The collected data was then used to test the research hypotheses using a multiple regression with moderation analysis. The analysis was conducted with IBM's SPSS Version 27. Data was cleaned and screened before being analyzed. First, the data was screened for completeness, which should not be a factor as the participant was given the measures on a single webpage through Survey Monkey and their data should not be submitted until they finished the entire measure, if the participants exit the measure before submitting, then the data was not collected. Due to participants only being able to submit completed measures, if there is a technical problem with data transfer and a participant ends up with an incomplete measure, such as one question left unanswered, that entire participant survey was deleted. Before continuing to the survey, the participants were required to acknowledge informed consent (Appendix D). The final screening of data was to review each participant's answers to the participation criteria questions; if any of the answers indicate the participant did not meet the criteria to participate in the study, the data for that participant will be deleted. It should be noted that not all submissions were completed, and the cases received, and the cases that were deleted during the data cleaning process will be explained in Chapter 4.

## **Threats to Validity**

#### **Threats to External Validity**

There were two primary threats to the external validity that had been identified for this study. The first threat to external validity, as described by Creswell and Creswell (2018), is the generalizability of the results. The data was collected from a convenience sample of USAF EOD operators. The sample was open to the USAF EOD operational community's entirety, but only those with direct or derivative access to social media had access to the invitation. Due to the specialized nature and small population of USAF EOD operators, the study was only generalizable to that community specifically. The results of the study were not generalizable to the rest of the Air Force or Department of Defense but may contribute to the idea of opening up future studies to those populations. The second threat to external validity for this study was environmental. Each of the participants completed the survey on their own, so environmental factors such as time of day, or the type of day they are having, or their personal reaction to the current global pandemic may have unduly influenced the study results. One way to combat the environmental threat to external validity is to limit the participation of operators undergoing any type of unfavorable administrative action against them.

#### **Threats to Internal Validity**

There was one primary threat to internal validity found for this study, which is selection. Creswell and Creswell (2018) described selection as a threat to internal validity by selecting participants with certain attributes that will predispose them to specific outcomes. The study specifically targeted a highly selective group of military members, which was by design. This was a calculated risk in the study that was made to ensure that the members' perceptions of their team's selectivity were observed as opposed to looking directly at a selective and non-selective team and reducing the noise in the data from observing selective and non-selective career fields. As previously mentioned, there is already an established relationship that exists between highly resilient

people and making it through the rigorous selection process of highly selective teams discussed by Kemplin et al. (2019) and Bartone et al. (2008). The study aimed to understand how the perception one has of the selectivity of the team they are on is related to the individual's cohesion to the team as well as their resulting resilience, which would not be able to be focused on without the specific selection of a population-based on the highly selective nature of that career. In future studies, one can look at random participants from both selective and non-selective teams or compare groups of selective and non-selective teams to further understand whether it is the team's actual selectivity or the individual's perception of the team that has the most significant relationship.

# **Threats to Construct Validity**

One primary threat to construct validity in this study was the use of a modified scale to measure a construct that is difficult to measure. The HSS was originally used to obtain data from college students on their likelihood to apply for an occupation based on that occupation's selectivity. The test questions revolve around the occupation's selectivity, though, and seem to be a good fit for modification to perceptions of team selectivity. The scale's language was changed to reflect this modification, but with no other measure to compare, a threat to the measure's construct validity was apparent. The scale uses language that is pertinent to team selectivity, such as selection procedures based on knowledge, skills, abilities, and a strong work ethic. This study aimed to measure the individual's perception of the team's selectivity they are a part of, so to combat this threat to construct validity, an additional question was added to the demographic portion of the survey. The extra survey item was to answer the degree to

which the participant agrees or disagrees with the statement, "My team is highly selective" on a 30-point scale ranging from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 30 (*strongly agree*) to coincide with the range of the HSS. The score from the HSS was checked against the extra survey item to ensure to the greatest extent possible the construct validity of the modified scale and will be discussed further in Chapter 4. If the answers between the HSS and general selectivity question were not correlated, the data would still be interpreted but would be analyzed individually, and issues of construct validity will be discussed in Chapters 4 and 5.

### **Ethical Procedures**

The participants' confidentiality and privacy were ensured through the use of the third-party website, Survey Monkey. The recruitment of participants in the study was directly through social media. It required no additional agreement from the Department of Defense or the Department of the Air Force, as the participants were invited solely through social media. No official communication or notification will be sought. It must be noted that this was not an official Air Force study. The views, results, and implications written in this study are specifically that of the author; data was collected solely through social media. There is no specific or implied endorsement by the United States Air Force or Department of Defense. All participants were directly or derivatively socially connected to the author, and no official time, manpower, or funds were used in this study. Furthermore, the participants were instructed in the study invitation not to complete the survey during their time on official duty but rather were instructed to complete the survey on their off-duty time. During the survey, participants were advised

that this survey is done on a completely voluntary basis, and identification data will not be collected from them. Participants were able to exit the survey, without data being analyzed, all the way until they click on the "submit" button. The data collected is kept on a removable storage device, the file password-protected, and physically locked in my safe for no less than 5 years. While I am a USAF EOD operator, all data was collected with I was on a sabbatical from the military, my entrance back onto active duty occurred after data had been collected and analyzed. While my position within the EOD career field provided access to that population, no conflicts of interest or power differentials were prevalent due to being separated from the military during the actual collection of data. Finally, before collecting any data, permission was obtained from Walden University's Institutional Review Board, approval number 09-21-20-0754845, to ensure all ethical standards were met; data was then collected according to the approved application ethical guidelines outlined by the Institutional Review Board.

#### **Summary**

Chapter 3 provided an in-depth analysis of the research design, methodology, and instrumentation that was used for this study. The research design that was employed to answer the two research questions was a non-experimental correlational design using a convenience sample of USAF EOD operators. Operational definitions were given for each of the three prime variables and information on the instruments obtained to measure those variables through the revised GEQ, modified HSS, and CD-RISC. Furthermore, the reliability and validity of the testing instruments were provided, and threats to external, internal, and construct validity were addressed. Finally, a multiple linear

regression with a moderator variable will be used to analyze the data to test the hypotheses for the research questions. In Chapter 4, the results of the study will be analyzed.

## Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this quantitative, non-experimental study was to determine whether or not perceived selectivity moderated the relationship between cohesion and resilience in USAF EOD operators. The research design of the dissertation study to include rationale, population, and sampling procedures will be outlined in the following chapter. Furthermore, each of the three measures will be described and rationalized; the operationalization of the variables will be defined along with the data analysis plan, threats to validity, and finally, ethical concerns. The two research questions with their hypotheses for this study are:

RQ1: Does perceived team cohesion level predict individual resilience among USAF EOD Operators?

 $H_{o1}$ : Perceived team cohesion level does not predict individual resilience among USAF EOD Operators.

 $H_{a1}$ : Perceived team cohesion level predicts individual resilience among USAF EOD Operators.

RQ2: Does perceived team selectivity moderate the relationship between perceived team cohesion and individual resilience among USAF EOD Operators?

 $H_{o2}$ : Perceived team selectivity does not moderate the relationship between perceived team cohesion and individual resilience among USAF EOD Operators.  $H_{a2}$ : Perceived team selectivity moderates the relationship between perceived team cohesion and individual resilience among USAF EOD Operators. Chapter 4 will outline the results of the study that was conducted. First, the pilot study that was conducted will be described along with the benefits, lessons learned, and changes made because of it. Data collection efforts will then be given along with the time frame for collection, discrepancies from Chapter 3, and baseline descriptive statistics. Finally, the study results will be reported with demographics that characterize the sample, statistical assumptions, and the statistical analyses to address the research questions along with all of the appropriate tables and figures to illustrate the results.

#### **Pilot Study**

A pilot study was conducted with my friends and family to obtain data to ensure the study's logistical readiness before data collection. This pilot study was used only to work on issues of readability and delivery; the participants were told to click through the surveys randomly and not actually provide any personal data. There were two major findings from the pilot study that informed changes made to the actual study. The first finding was that the participant's Internet Protocol addresses were being recorded, which meant the survey might not have been fully confidential. The second issue was that if a participant clicked on the wrong box, especially in the criteria section, they could not go back and correct their responses. The fix that was implemented from these issues was to apply an option within the service that allowed for the Internet Protocol addresses allowed the survey to be fully confidential and allowed the participants to retake the survey if they mistakenly checked one of the criteria boxes incorrectly. While this did allow one to take multiple surveys, it is assumed that the participants had the integrity only to take the full survey once.

## **Data Collection**

Data collection efforts were completed in a quick time frame. The target sample size was reached in 14 days; by the time the survey was closed, a total usable sample of 311 participants was obtained. Survey Monkey gave an up-to-date completion rate, and while the service did record all survey attempts, it did provide data on completed surveys, so the survey was closed after the total completed surveys reached the target sample size. As reported by Survey Monkey, total responses were 388 participants with a 79% total completion rate. Of the 388 participants, 32 did not meet the study's criteria, and 45 did not complete the full survey, leaving the total participants to 311. The 45 participants excluded from incomplete surveys did not miss specific questions but rather missed entire sections of the survey, such as the entire GEQ, HSS, or CD-RISC, making the inclusion of the data using common techniques such as mean substitution unwarranted. It is assumed with those incomplete surveys that the respondents simply exited the survey and thus did not want their data collected.

#### **Measurement Reliability**

Each of the measures was tested for reliability and internal consistency using Cronbach's alpha. Team cohesion as measured by the GEQ had an overall acceptable reliability score of  $\alpha = .87$  as well as each of the dimensions of task cohesion ( $\alpha = .78$ ), social cohesion ( $\alpha = .90$ ), and individual attraction to group ( $\alpha = .88$ ). The CD-RISC held an acceptable reliability score of  $\alpha = .88$ . Furthermore, the HSS had a very good reliability score of  $\alpha$  = .89. Finally, due to the HSS being modified, it was measured against the participants' individual question, rating their perception of their team's selectivity, achieving a significant Pearson correlation (*r* = .563, *p* < .001), strengthening the content validity of the HSS.

# **Demographics**

The respondents of the survey were primarily male, middle-aged, career activeduty airmen. There were 293 men (94.2%) and 18 women (5.8%) that participated. Over half of the respondents were career airmen, 78 (25.1%) E-5 Staff Sergeants, and 80 (25.7%) E-6 Technical Sergeants, with an average of 12.3 years in the Air Force. Table 1 shows the frequencies and percentages of the nominal demographic data.

# Table 1

Variable	N	%
Gender		
Male	293	94.2
Female	18	5.8
Component		
Active duty	253	81.4
Reserve	44	14.1
National guard	14	4.5
Enlisted rank	301	96.7
Airman (E-1—E-4)	34	10.9
NCO (E-5—E6)	158	50.8
SNCO (E-7—E8)	109	35
Officer rank	10	3.2
CGO (O-1—O-3)	8	2.6
FGO (0-4-0-6)	2	.6

Frequency Table for Nominal Demographics of Participants

*Note*. Enlisted and Officer ranks were grouped for brevity. NCO – Noncommissioned Officer; SNCO – Senior Noncommissioned Officer; CGO – Company Grade Officer; FGO – Field Grade Officer.

The data was generally representative of the Air Force EOD career field. The participants had a strong age range of 2-52, with the average being middle-aged (M = 33,

SD = 6.16). Most of the respondents were in the middle of their Air Force career regarding their Time in Service (M = 12.34, SD = 5.95) and ranging from 2-33 years. Furthermore, most of the respondents' time in the EOD career field (M = 10.86, SD =5.96) indicated most went straight into the 1-year-long EOD school after entering into the Air Force. Finally, deployments were indicative of a wide range of military experiences; combat deployments (M = 1.82, SD = 1.88) ranged from 0-8; noncombat deployments (M= 1.27, SD = 1.22) ranged from 0-8 as well; total deployments (M = 3.08, SD = 2.52) ranged from 0-13 which provides a wide range of deployment experiences for the entire data set. Table 2 shows the descriptive statics for these continuous variables. While there is no direct data available currently on the demographics of the EOD career field, the data are not too dissimilar from demographics reported by Air Force Magazine (2018), which show predominately male (80.7%), enlisted (81%) airman. Unfortunately, there was not a larger portion of women and younger Airmen in the sample with less time in service, making the results difficult to generalize to those populations of EOD operators.

# Table 2

Variable	М	SD	Minimum	Maximum
Age	32.93	6.16	20	52
Time in service (years)	12.35	5.95	2	33
Time in EOD (years)	10.87	5.97	.5	25
Deployments				
Combat	1.82	1.88	0	8
Noncombat	1.27	1.22	0	8
Total	3.08	2.52	0	13
Noncombat Total	1.27 3.08	1.22 2.52	0 0	8 13

Descriptive Statistics for Continuous Demographics of Participants

*Note*. EOD-Explosive Ordnance Disposal.

# **Study Results**

This study comprised of two research questions. Each research question will be addressed in this section with each statistical analysis that was performed to test the associated hypotheses. The research question will first be stated, along with the associated hypothesis, the type of statistical test that was performed, the assumptions for the test, and the results. Tables and figures are used to illustrate the results of each set of assumptions and statistical analysis.

## **Research Question 1**

RQ1: Does perceived team cohesion level predict individual resilience among USAF EOD Operators?

 $H_0$ 1: Perceived team cohesion level does not predict individual resilience among USAF EOD Operators.

 $H_a1_{:}$  Perceived team cohesion level predicts individual resilience among USAF EOD Operators.

# Assumptions

The data collected from the sample was analyzed with respect to the major variables of Cohesion, Selectivity, and Resilience. The predictor variable of Cohesion, as measured by the GEQ-Work Team Version, had three dimensions which were Task Cohesion, Social Cohesion, and Individual Attraction to Group. Each of these dimensions were analyzed together for the first research question entered into SPSS as three separate predictor variables, and then put in independent models for the second research question. Each of the variables was tested for the assumptions related to multiple regression analysis: linearity, normality, homoscedasticity, and independence of errors in estimation (Hayes, 2018). Each of the assumptions was within limits described by Hayes (2018) to continue interpreting the results. The normality assumption can be seen in Figure 1 with the histogram of standardized residuals and the closeness of the points to the normal P-P plot lines, as seen in Figure 2. Furthermore, a scatterplot indicating the assumptions of linearity and homogeneity appears to be acceptable and can be seen in Figure 3. Finally, the assumption of collinearity being within acceptable limits can be seen in Table 3, with all three cohesion dimensions having a reasonably low VIF.

# Figure 1

Histogram of Standardized Residuals for Dimensions of Cohesion and Resilience



# Figure 2

P-P Scatterplot for Normality of Dimensions of Cohesion and Resilience



# Figure 3

Scatterplot of Standardized Residuals of Dimensions of Cohesion and Resilience



# Table 3

Variable	Tolerance	VIF
Task Cohesion	.66	1.26
Social Cohesion	.62	1.59
Individual Attraction to Group	.61	1.53

Note. Outcome Variable-Resilience. VIF-Variance Inflation Factor.

# Multiple Linear Regression

RQ1 addressed the possible relationship between team cohesion and resilience in the sample. Team cohesion comprises three dimensions: Task cohesion, social cohesion, and individual attraction to group. Each of the dimensions was loaded into a regression model in SPSS Version 27 to test each of the dimensions' predictive ability on resilience levels. The null hypothesis for RQ1 was that cohesion levels would not significantly predict resilience levels. The regression statistics for RQ1 are shown in Table 4.

# Table 4

Regression Statistics for Cohesion predicting for Resilience

Variable	В	SE B	β	t	р
Task Cohesion	.081	.091	.055	.888	.375
Social Cohesion	.095	.094	.071	1.008	.314
Individual Attraction to Group	.349	.162	.148	2.156	.032

Note. Outcome Variable: Resilience

The overall results of the multiple linear regression were statically significant,  $F(3, 307) = 5.566, p < .001, R^2 = .052$ , indicating that the dimensions of cohesion do significantly predict resilience in USAF EOD operators. The  $R^2$  (.052) value indicated in the model shows that about 5.2% of the variation in USAF EOD resilience levels is accounted for by the three dimensions of cohesion. In the regression model, only the cohesion dimension of individual attraction to group (t = 2.516, p < .05) provided any significant contribution. With a significant overall model for RQ1, the null hypothesis ( $H_{o1}$ ) was rejected, and the alternative hypothesis was kept ( $H_{a1}$ ); therefore, the moderation analysis for RQ2 was then conducted.

# **Research Question 2**

RQ2 – Does perceived team selectivity moderate the relationship between perceived team cohesion and individual resilience among USAF EOD Operators?

 $H_{o2}$  – Perceived team selectivity does not moderate the relationship between perceived team cohesion and individual resilience among USAF EOD Operators.  $H_{a2}$  - Perceived team selectivity moderates the relationship between perceived team cohesion and individual resilience among USAF EOD Operators.

As discussed by Hayes (2018), a moderator is a variable that influences the relationship between two other variables. Each of the dimensions of cohesion was individually analyzed using PROCESS with selectivity as a moderator variable, with the outcome variable staying as resilience. A multiple regression analysis through SPSS was also conducted the traditional route, with each of the dimensions of cohesion and selectivity and the interaction of selectivity and the respective dimension to obtain VIF
collinearity statistics that were not provided as an output of the PROCESS model. The interaction variable was created by multiplying the respective dimension of cohesion and selectivity and adding that variable to the regression analysis.

## Assumptions

Within their respective models, each of the variables was tested for the assumptions related to multiple regression analysis: linearity, normality, homoscedasticity, and independence of errors in estimation (Hayes, 2018). Some of the assumptions were not met, as will be described below; however, Hayes (2018) discussed that not all data would meet all of the multiple regression assumptions and will continue to be interpreted. The assumption of normality of errors for the task cohesion, social cohesion, and individual attraction to group can be seen in Figures 4, 7, and 10, respectively, with the histogram of standardized residuals and the closeness of the points to the lines in the normal P-P plot as seen in Figure 5, 8, 11. Furthermore, a scatterplot indicating the assumptions of linearity and homogeneity appears to be only acceptable in the task cohesion model seen in Figure 6, but violating the assumptions with a strong group and possible linear relationship for the social cohesion and individual attraction to group model which can be seen in Figures 9 and 12 respectively. Finally, the assumption of collinearity seems to be violated with very large VIF scores for all three models, as seen in Table 5, but will be interpreted as inferences in moderation interactions can still be made when collinearity assumptions have been violated as described by Hayes (2018).

Histogram of Standardized Residuals for Task Cohesion, Selectivity, and Resilience





P-P Scatterplot for Normality of Task Cohesion, Selectivity, and Resilience



Scatterplot of Standardized Residuals of Task Cohesion, Selectivity, and Resilience





Histogram of Standardized Residuals for Social Cohesion, Selectivity, and Resilience







Figure 9

Scatterplot of Standardized Residuals of Social Cohesion, Selectivity, and Resilience



**Regression Standardized Residual** 







*P-P Scatterplot for Normality of Individual Attraction to Group, Selectivity, and Resilience* 



Scatterplot of Standardized Residuals of Individual Attraction to Group, Selectivity, and Resilience



# Table 5

Predictor Variable and Moderator (	Collinearity	Statistics
------------------------------------	--------------	------------

Variable	Tolerance	VIF
Task Cohesion	.072	13.956
Selectivity	.137	7.296
Interaction	.035	28.658
Social Cohesion	.084	11.892
Selectivity	.130	7.673
Interaction	.040	25.005
Individual Attraction to Group	.086	11.682
Selectivity	.130	7.690
Interaction	.039	25.331

*Note.* Outcome Variable-Resilience. VIF-Variance Inflation Factor.

### Multiple Linear Regression with Moderation

To test the hypothesis for RQ2, a multiple linear regression analysis with moderation was conducted using model 1 in the Hayes (2018) PROCESS macro in SPSS. The model created by task cohesion was statistically significant, F(3, 307) = 4.798,  $p < 10^{-10}$ .01,  $R^2 = .045$ , but neither of the individual predictors achieved a statistically significant outcome; issues of collinearity may have influenced the significance of the model. The model created by individual attraction to group was also statistically significant F(3, 307)= 7.551, p < .001,  $R^2 = .069$ . Selectivity did not significantly moderate the relationship between individual attraction to group and resilience in that model. The model created by social cohesion was statistically significant, F(3, 307) = 7.338, p < .001,  $R^2 = .067$ . In the social cohesion model, the predictive ability of social cohesion and selectivity were significant as well as the moderation of selectivity on social cohesion and resilience (p < p.001); therefore, the null hypothesis  $(H_{o2})$  was rejected, and the alternative hypothesis was kept  $(H_{a2})$ , selectivity did moderate the relationship between cohesion and resilience. Figure 13 shows the difference in the slope of the lines between social cohesion and resilience scores with different selectivity levels. Each of the models with their associated significance values can be seen in Table 6.

# Table 6

Variable	В	SE B	β	t	р
Task Cohesion	.0714	.3045	.049	.2344	.8148
Selectivity	.3733	.2949	.191	1.266	.2065
Interaction	0005	.0140	010	0343	.9727
Social Cohesion	.651	.255	.486	2.554	.011
Selectivity	.889	.299	.454	2.973	.003
Interaction	026	.013	573	-2.077	.039
Individual Attraction to Group	1.048	.443	.445	2.366	.019
Selectivity	.741	.299	.379	2.480	.014
Interaction	038	.023	469	-1.692	.092

Moderation Model Regression Statistics

Note. Outcome variable - Resilience.

Social Cohesion and Resilience Moderated by Resilience



## **Summary**

The purpose of this study was to determine if perceived selectivity moderated the relationship between cohesion and resilience in USAF EOD operators. The first research question addressed the initial assumption that there was a relationship between cohesion and resilience. The multiple linear regression analysis with the dimensions of cohesion produced a statistically significant predictive model on resilience, which rejected the null hypothesis and allowed further analysis of moderation. Selectivity was found to be a significant moderator in the relationship between cohesion and resilience in the social cohesion regression model, which rejected the null hypothesis; the alternative hypothesis was kept indicating that selectivity significantly moderated the relationship between cohesion and resilience. It is noted that the data did not fit all of the assumptions for regression analysis, specifically collinearity; therefore, the alternative hypothesis of RQ2 and all interpretations of it are made with the knowledge that the assumption of collinearity has been violated. Chapter 5 will address the interpretation of these findings, the limitations of the study, recommendations for future research, and the implications for social change, and conclusion.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

### Introduction

The purpose of this study was to understand better the relationships between team cohesion, perceived selectivity, and resilience in USAF EOD operators. A quantitative, non-experimental correlational study was designed to address two primary research questions on whether there is a significant predictive relationship between the three dimensions of cohesion and resilience as well as whether one's individual perception of the selectivity of their team would significantly moderate that relationship. A convenience sample of 311 USAF EOD operators was obtained through social media via an online survey that included demographic information, the GEQ work team version, the HSS, and the CD-RISC. The three dimensions of cohesion, task cohesion, social cohesion, and individual attraction to group were tested as predictors of resilience using a multiple regression analysis. Furthermore, a moderation analysis was conducted independently on each cohesion dimension with perceived selectivity as the moderator. Both of the overall models for the research questions were significant, specifically between individual attraction to group and resilience, as well as perceived selectivity significantly moderating the relationship between social cohesion and resilience. However, all of the moderation analyses did reveal high levels of multicollinearity.

This chapter will focus on the interpretation of the research analyses that were conducted. Furthermore, the limitations of the study, recommendations for future research, and the implications for social change will be discussed. Finally, I will end the chapter with a summary and conclusion.

## **Interpretation of Findings**

## **Cohesion and Resilience**

The first research question was asked to verify the relationship between cohesion and resilience discussed in current literature before testing a moderation on that relationship. As found with the overall regression model between cohesion and resilience  $F(3, 307) = 5.566, p < .001, R^2 = .052$ , the three dimensions of cohesion could significantly predict 5.2% of the variance in resilience. Specifically, the cohesion dimension of individual attraction to group accounted for a significant portion of the model. The independent relationships that each of the dimensions of cohesion confirmed the multi-dimensional nature of cohesion that Severt and Estrada (2015) discussed. The lack of significant contributions from task cohesion on the relationship to resilience also is in line with research showing that task cohesion has a high association with performance functions (Beal et al., 2003; Castano et al., 2013; Mathieu et al., 2019). The significant contribution by the individual attraction to group to the overall regression model of cohesion and resilience coincides with Carless and De Paola (2000) through the lens of Tajfel and Turner's Social Identity Theory, in that the individual attraction to group dimension is centered on being accepted by the group which would affect the social bonds discussed by Severt and Estrada (2015) allowing for an increase in resilience.

The fact that social cohesion did not directly contribute to the model, although it was greater that task cohesion, is curious and goes against the assertions of Severt and Estrada (2015) and Vanhove and Herian (2015). The overall model of cohesion was

significant, though. Still, Zang et al. (2017) and Griffith (2015) found relationships between social cohesion and positive mental health. They did not use the same measurements as in this study, however, nor did they measure resilience, but rather mental health outcomes such as posttraumatic cognitions and suicidal thoughts (Griffith et al., 2015; Zang et al., 2017). It could be possible that the individual attraction to group and social cohesion scales are so closely related that they may need to be added together, or a more comprehensive and well-defined test for cohesion may need to be developed as more data are obtained testing the precise dimensions of cohesion.

#### Selectivity as a Moderator

Out of the three moderator models that were created to test the second hypothesis, that selectivity was a significant moderator on the relationship between cohesion and resilience, the social cohesion model F(3, 307) = 7.338, p < .001,  $R^2 = .067$  was both significant for the cohesion dimension and the moderation effect. With the model significantly predicting 6.7% of the variance in resilience, it aligns with previous research conducted by Zang et al. (2017) and Griffith et al. (2015). Having a significant relationship between social cohesion and resilience confirms the assertion by Vanhove and Herian (2015). Furthermore, perceived selectivity as a moderator of the cohesion and resilience relationship does fall within the understanding of Tajfel and Turner's (1979) Social Identity Theory. In the context of the Social Identity Theory, it would appear that perceived selectivity may be acting as a force of cohesion, acting on the more elite in-group as they compare themselves to an out-group. The feeling of eliteness, that

not everyone can be a part of their in-group, would bring about a greater sense of cohesion.

While collinearity assumptions were not met, the models are still interpretable as predictors, and inferences can be made about the moderation relationship (Hayes, 2018). The most interesting aspect of the moderation interaction of selectivity on cohesion and resilience is that it was significant at the lower levels of selectivity, as seen in Figure 13. With the sample of USAF EOD operators, their perception of selectivity only tends to interact with the cohesion-resilience relationship when their perception of their team's selectivity is low, which exhibits a sharp change in slope. It would seem that if one's perception of their team's selectivity is low, that they believe their team is not selective at all, then social cohesion has a much stronger positive relationship to resilience. In the context of the Social Identity Theory, without the force of selectivity and comparison between the in-group and the out-group, social cohesion within the group becomes a stronger force to act on resilience. The interpretation of this must be done within the context that this was not a longitudinal study nor an experiment, so order and causality cannot be determined, but inferences can be made. Interpretation for the moderation relationship of selectivity between cohesion and resilience would be that if the individual does not believe that they are in a unique or elite team, which would be a major force for cohesion, then more focus is put on their social cohesion and individual attraction to their group to predict how resilient they may be. In other words, those that are already strongly perceiving their team as elite will have stronger cohesion and strong resilience, but when they do not perceive selectivity in their team, then all of the focus is put on the

social cohesion and individual attraction to group to understand where their resilience levels may lay. By understanding an individual's perceived selectivity of their team, commanders can know where to emphasize increasing cohesion to benefit resilience. Now commanders can strengthen both cohesion and the understanding of their team's selectivity in order to strengthen resilience.

## Limitations of the Study

This study had three principal limitations, one validity limitation, and finally, a previously unthought-of limitation. The first principal limitation to this study, as with most studies, is the issue of generalizability. This study took a convenience sample of USAF EOD operators to understand relationships of selectivity on resilience and cohesion. Even with a large sample size of 311 USAF EOD operators, there were still some Airmen that were underrepresented, such as lower enlisted, female, Reserve, Guard, and those that are younger. While these are normally minorities of the USAF EOD career field, they are underrepresented in this study, by how much, however, was not possible to ascertain as that data is not currently accessible. The data is somewhat similar at least to current Air Force demographic data reported by Air Force Magazine (2018), which show predominately male (80.7%), enlisted (81%) airman. Without a complete understanding of demographics, generalizability to the EOD career field would be possible but done with the understanding that not every demographic within the career field was correctly represented; however, most demographics did have some level of representation in the study. Generalization outside of the highly selective USAF EOD

career field to the rest of the Civil Engineer field or the Air Force would not be recommended.

The second principal limitation to this study was from the correlational research design that the study implemented. While the correlational research design is good for unobtrusively collecting data without utilizing extensive resources, the design prohibits making inferences on causation. Furthermore, using cross-sectional data, observing people in a snapshot of time, makes the inference on the order of relationships difficult.

The third principal limitation to this study was with possible bias. As a USAF EOD operator, I could have bias during the study or prompt bias in data collection. There were many blocks put in place to ensure bias would not be present in the study. First, data was collected anonymously online, so there was no way to know who would take the survey, which was clearly stated in the invitation and in the survey itself. Second, I was part of the Career Intermission Program, a type of sabbatical for the military, during data collection, so I was not actively a member of the military, nor in any person's chain of command during the collection of data. Every effort was made to ensure that bias was minimized. There was no undue influence inflicted upon any member of the EOD community to take the survey or give any particular answers.

One primary limitation on validity was addressed in this study. The HSS was modified from its original version to measure team selectivity rather than employer selectivity on employees. The modifications were specifically to the language of the questions. To increase the validity of the scale, a question was asked in the survey to have the participant give their direct perception of their team's selectivity on a scale from 1-30 to coincide with the HSS output. The individual question was measured against the HSS output for each participant achieving a significant Pearson correlation (r = .563, p < .001), strengthening the content validity of the HSS.

Finally, this study measured both cohesion and resilience during the COVID-19 global pandemic. Data was collected in the fall of 2020. There were points in 2020 where military people had a Stop Movement order, there were quarantines, and even military first responders did not all go to work at the same time. Some USAF EOD were remotely working, with only the required manning to sustain their individual missions in place. It is unclear yet as to how all of these factors may influence resilience or the dimensions of cohesion, especially social cohesion. With remote working, mass quarantines, the stress of a global pandemic, and major disruptions in normal day-to-day life, it would be imprudent to not include the pandemic as a significant limitation. However, it would also be imprudent not to understand that collecting this data during such a stressful time will help shed light in the future as to what effects the global pandemic had on the USAF EOD community.

#### Recommendations

Research on cohesion and resilience is still an ongoing topic, but incorporating perceived selectivity and USAF EOD operators as a population is rather novel and requires additional research. Future research should further expand this study into a comparative analysis across military career fields to ensure the generalizability of findings across the Air Force. Furthermore, additional research should obtain the full demographics of the specific career fields that are being represented to ensure the participants' demographics closely match the career fields. One way to obtain a closer representative sample would be to obtain a greater sample, over advertise to underrepresented demographics, or employ stratification to ensure that the proper percentage of specific demographics is represented. Furthermore, future research should focus on longitudinal studies to determine levels of perceived selectivity, cohesion, and resilience through the lifespan of a USAF EOD operator through initial recruitment, basic military training, NAVSCOLEOD as well as through the rest of their career to establish the order at which these occur and the how they may increase or decrease with time, using the GEQ, modified HSS, and CD-RISC. Additionally, more research is needed to further develop a scale or increase the validity of the currently modified HSS to determine an individual's perceived selectivity of teams. Finally, further data must be obtained after the global pandemic to be compared to past and present data on cohesion and resilience to see how COVID-19 has affected the cohesion and resilience of those that experienced living through the pandemic.

#### Implications

This study can promote social change at the individual, family, and organizational levels through leadership practice in the military organization. The study was able to apply Tafel and Turner's (1979) Social Identity Theory to understand how the perception of selectivity in a team may be related to social cohesion and resilience. Given this understanding, further research can be conducted to further the concept of perceived selectivity, through comparative studies, to create leadership interventions to possibly increase cohesion and resilience in USAF EOD operators and possibly other Airmen.

Leadership interventions to increase individuals' perceived selectivity of their teams could strengthen the individual's cohesion and resilience, allowing them to bounce back from stress more easily. Furthermore, increased resilience in the individual could benefit the family by bouncing back from the military's stressors and not bringing the stress home. Finally, by increasing individual resilience, the organization benefits from a more effective fighting force that is capable of reentering the fight after significant or sustained stress.

## Conclusion

Explosive Ordnance Disposal is one of the most stressful jobs in the military (Woodruff, 2018). Being a USAF EOD operator, I can attest to the incredible pressures both war and peace can place upon the individual. It is the military's job to fight in war and prepare to fight in peace; the military member's mission is never over, and the stress is unrelating. While this study did not solve the problem of stress in the workplace or the military or even USAF EOD operators, it did take a step in that direction. By opening the doors to the USAF EOD population and connecting selectivity, cohesion, and resilience, one step toward a more resilient force has been made. It is hoped that this small study can open the doors to more studies and greater populations so that we as a research community can understand cohesion and resilience at a level that we can ensure that our teams become efficient, cohesive units and our individuals are highly resilient, so that no matter what stress the life of a USAF EOD operator can bring, they will be able to bounce back from it and continue to live our motto: *Initial Success or Total Failure*.

## References

Aguinis, H. (1995). Statistical power with moderated multiple regression in management research. *Journal of Management*, 21(6), 1141–1158. doi:10.1177/014920639502100607

Aguinis, H., & Stone-Romero, E. F. (1997). Methodological artifacts in moderated multiple regression and their effects on statistical power. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 82(1), 192–206. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.82.1.192

Air Force Magazine (2018). *The Air Force in facts & figures: 2018 USAF almanac*. Retrieved from

https://www.airforcemag.com/PDF/MagazineArchive/Magazine%20Documents% 2F2018%2FJune%202018%2FAlmanac\_2018\_Facts%20and%20Figures.pdf

- Air Force Resilience (n.d.). *Department of the Air Force Resilience*. Retrieved from https://www.resilience.af.mil/Programs/True-North/
- Army Resilience Directorate (n.d.). *What is Ready and Resilient?* Retrieved from https://readyandresilient.army.mil/index.html
- Bandura, C. T., Kavussanu, M., & Ong, C. W. (2019). Authentic leadership and task cohesion: The mediating role of trust and team sacrifice. *Group Dynamics: Theory, Research, and Practice*, 23(3–4), 185–194. doi:10.1037/gdn0000105
- Barrick, M. R., & Parks-Leduc, L. (2019). Selection for fit. Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior, 6(1), 171–193. doi:10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-012218-015028

- Bartone, P. T., Johnsen, B. H., Eid, J., Brun, W., & Laberg, J. C. (2002). Factors influencing small-unit cohesion in Norwegian navy officer cadets. *Military Psychology*, 14(1), 1–22. doi:10.1207/S15327876MP1401\_01
- Bartone, P. T., Roland, R. R., Picano, J. J., & Williams, T. J. (2008). Psychological hardiness predicts success in U.S. Army special forces candidates. *International Journal of Selection and Assessment*, 16(1), 78–81. doi:10.1111/j.1468-2389.2008.00412.x
- Bayraktar, S. (2017). Team cohesion: A multi method study of bank employees in Turkey. *Hacettepe University Journal of Economics & Administrative Sciences*, 35(2), 1–21. doi:10.17065/huniibf.324688
- Beal, D. J., Cohen, R. R., Burke, M. J., & McLendon, C. L. (2003). Cohesion and performance in groups: A meta-analytic clarification of construct relations. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88(6), 989–1004. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.88.6.989
- Bell, S. T., & Brown, S. G. (2015). Selecting and composing cohesive teams. In E. Salas,
  W. B. Vessey, & A. X. Estrada (Eds.) *Team cohesion: advances in psychological theory, methods and practice* (pp. 181-209). Bingley, England: Emerald Group Publishing Limited.

Bezdjian, S., Schneider, K. G., Burchett, D., Baker, M. T., & Garb, H. N. (2017).
Resilience in the United States Air Force: Psychometric properties of the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale (CD-RISC). *Psychological Assessment*, 29(5), 479– 485. doi:10.1037/pas0000370

- Black, J., Kim, K., Rhee, S., Wang, K., & Sakchutchawan, S. (2019). Self-efficacy and emotional intelligence: Influencing team cohesion to enhance team performance. *Team Performance Management: An International Journal*, 25(1/2), 100–119. doi:10.1108/TPM-01-2018-0005
- Breslau, J., Setodji, C. M., & Vaughan, C. A. (2016). Is cohesion within military units associated with post-deployment behavioral and mental health outcomes? *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *198*, 102–107. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2016.03.053
- Brooks, S. K., & Greenberg, N. (2017). Non-deployment factors affecting psychological wellbeing in military personnel: Literature review. *Journal of Mental Health*, 27(1), 80-90. doi:10.1080/09638237.2016.1276536
- Brown, R. (2020). The social identity approach: Appraising the Tajfellian legacy. *British Journal of Social Psychology*, *59*(1), 5–25. doi:10.1111/bjso.12349
- Bryan, C. J., Ray-Sannerud, B., & Heron, E. A. (2015). Psychological flexibility as a dimension of resilience for posttraumatic stress, depression, and risk for suicidal ideation among Air Force personnel. *Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science*, 4(4), 263–268. doi:10.1016/j.jcbs.2015.10.002
- Carless, S. A., & De Paola, C. (2000). Group Environment Questionnaire—Work Team Version. *Small Group Research*. *31*(1), 71-88 doi:10.1177/104649640003100104
- Carron, A. V., & Brawley, L. R. (2000). Cohesion: Conceptual and measurement issues. Small Group Research, 31(1), 89–106. doi:10.1177/104649640003100105
- Carron, A. V., Brawley, L. R., & Widmeyer, N. W. (2002). *The Group Environment Questionnaire test manual*. Fitness Information Technology

Casey-Campbell, M., & Martens, M. L. (2009). Sticking it all together: A critical assessment of the group cohesion-performance literature. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 11(2), 223–246. doi:10.1111/j.1468-2370.2008.00239.x

Castaño, N., Watts, T., & Tekleab, A. G. (2013). A reexamination of the cohesion– performance relationship meta-analyses: A comprehensive approach. *Group Dynamics: Theory, Research, and Practice*, *17*(4), 207–231. doi:10.1037/a0034142

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2018). *Mental health in the workplace* [PDF file]. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/workplacehealthpromotion/tools-resources/pdfs/WHRC-Mental-Health-and-Stress-in-the-Workplac-Issue-Brief-H.pdf
- Chan, D. (2019). Team-Level constructs. *Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior*, 6(1), 325–348. doi:10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-012218-015117
- Chen, C., & Tang, N. (2018). Does perceived inclusion matter in the workplace? *Journal* of Managerial Psychology, 33(1), 43-57. doi:10.1108/JMP-02-2017-0078
- Choi, K. W., Chen, C.-Y., Ursano, R. J., Sun, X., Jain, S., Kessler, R. C., Koenen, K. C., Wang, M.-J., Wynn, G. H., Major Depressive Disorder Working Group of the Psychiatric Genomics Consortium, Campbell-Sills, L., Stein, M. B., & Smoller, J. W. (2019). Prospective study of polygenic risk, protective factors, and incident depression following combat deployment in U.S. Army soldiers. *Psychological Medicine*, 1–9. doi:10.1017/S0033291719000527

Connor, K. M., & Davidson, J. T. (2003). Development of a new resilience scale: The Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale (CD-RISC). *Depression & Anxiety* (1091-4269), *18*(2), 76-82. doi:10.1002/da.10113

Courtright, S. H., McCormick, B. W., Mistry, S., & Wang, J. (2017). Quality charters or quality members? A control theory perspective on team charters and team performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *102*(10), 1462–1470. doi:10.1037/apl0000229

- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (5th ed.). SAGE Publications.
- DiRosa, G. A., Estrada, A. X., & DeCostanza, A. H. (2015). Cohesion with large collectives: A multiteam systems perspective. In E. Salas, W. B. Vessey, & A. X. Estrada (Eds.) *Team cohesion: advances in psychological theory, methods and practice* (pp. 25-52). Bingley, England: Emerald Group Publishing Limited.
- Dixon, M. A., & Bares, C. B. (2018). Resilience in the U.S. Air Force: A factor analysis of two resilience scales. *Military Behavioral Health*, 6(1), 41–49. doi:10.1080/21635781.2017.1333065
- Drury, J., Brown, R., González, R., & Miranda, D. (2016). Emergent social identity and observing social support predict social support provided by survivors in a disaster:
  Solidarity in the 2010 Chile earthquake. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 46(2), 209–223. doi:10.1002/ejsp.2146
- Festinger, L. (1950). Informal social communication. *Psychological Review*, *57*(5), 271–282. doi:10.1037/h0056932

Georgoulas-Sherry, V., & Kelly, D. R. (2019). Resilience, Grit, and Hardiness:

Determining the relationships amongst the constructs through Structural Equation Modeling techniques. *Journal of Positive Psychology & Wellbeing, 3*(2), 165-178. Retrieved from http://journalppw.com

Griffith, J. (2015). Cross (unit)-level effects of cohesion on relationships of suicide thoughts to combat exposure, postdeployment Stressors, and postdeployment social support. *Behavioral Medicine*, *41*(3), 98–106. Informal social communication. *Psychological Review*, *57*(5), 271–282. doi:10.1037/h005693210.1080/08964289.2014.987719

- Gucciardi, D. F., Lines, R. L. J., Ducker, K. J., Peeling, P., Chapman, M. T., & Temby, P. (2020). Mental toughness as a psychological determinant of behavioral perseverance in special forces selection. *Sport, Exercise, and Performance Psychology*. doi:10.1037/spy0000208
- Guchait, P., Paşamehmetoğlu, A., & Madera, J. (2016). Error management culture: Impact on cohesion, stress, and turnover intentions. *The Service Industries Journal*, 36(3–4), 124–141. doi:10.1080/02642069.2016.1158253
- Harvard Medical School (2017). *Ramp up your resilience!* Retrieved from https://www.health.harvard.edu/mind-and-mood/ramp-up-your-resilience
- Hayes, A. F. (2018). *Introduction to mediation, moderation, and conditional process analysis: A regression-based approach.* (2nd ed.). The Guilford Press.

- Heinz, A. J., Meffert, B. N., Halvorson, M. A., Blonigen, D., Timko, C., Cronkite, R. (2018). Employment characteristics, work environment, and the course of depression over 23 years: Does employment help foster resilience? *Depression and Anxiety*, 35(9), 861–867. doi:10.1002/da.22782
- Hogg, M. A., Abrams, D., & Brewer M. B. (2017). Social identity: The role of self in group processes and intergroup relations. *Group Processes & Intergroup Relations*, 20(5), 570-581. doi:10.1177/1368430217690909
- Howell, K. H., Thurston, I. B., Schwartz, L. E., Jamison, L. E., & Hasselle, A. J. (2018).
  Protective factors associated with resilience in women exposed to intimate partner violence. *Psychology of Violence*, 8(4), 438–447. doi:10.1037/vio0000147
- Inoue, Y., Funk, D. C., Wann, D. L., Yoshida, M., & Nakazawa, M. (2015). Team identification and postdisaster social wellbeing: The mediating role of social support. *Group Dynamics: Theory, Research, and Practice, 19*(1), 31–44. doi:10.1037/gdn0000019
- Isaacs, K., Mota, N. P., Tsai, J., Harpaz-Rotem, I., Cook, J. M., Kirwin, P. D., Krystal, J. H., Southwick, S. M., & Pietrzak, R. H. (2017). Psychological resilience in U.S. military veterans: A 2-year, nationally representative prospective cohort study. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 84, 301–309. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016.10.017

- Jones, N., Campion, B., Keeling, M., & Greenberg, N. (2018). Cohesion, leadership, mental health stigmatisation and perceived barriers to care in U.K. military personnel. *Journal of Mental Health*, 27(1), 10–18. doi:10.3109/09638237.2016.1139063
- Kemplin, K. R., Paun, O., Godbee, D., & Brandon, J. (2019). Resilience and suicide in special operations forces. Journal of Special Operations Medicine, 19(2), 57-67. Retrieved from https://www.jsomonline.org/
- Kim, M. J. (2016). The Effects of trait positive affect on autonomy and task cohesion: The moderating roles of individual affective dissimilarity and group affective diversity. *Seoul Journal of Business*, 22(2), 79–105. doi:10.35152/snusjb.2016.22.2.004

Layman, P. G., Sanford, K., Myers, D. R., Dolan, S., Ellor, J. W., Morissette, S. B.,
Whitacre, J., & Crow, J. (2019). Intimate partner cohesion and military unit
cohesion: Different types of interpersonal relationships each uniquely predict
soldier wellbeing. *Military Psychology*, *31*(3), 178–186.

doi:10.1080/08995605.2019.1579606

Lott, A. J., & Lott, B. E. (1966). Group cohesiveness and individual learning. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 57(2), 61–73 doi:10.1037/h0023038

Luciano, M. M., DeChurch, L. A., & Mathieu, J. E. (2018). Multiteam systems: A structural framework and meso-theory of system functioning. *Journal of Management*, 44(3), 1065–1096. doi:10.1177/0149206315601184 Marlowe, J. M., Bartley, A., & Collins, F. (2017). Digital belongings: The intersections of social cohesion, connectivity and digital media. *Ethnicities*, *17*(1), 85–102. doi:10.1177/1468796816654174

Mathieu, J. E., Gallagher, P. T., Domingo, M. A., & Klock, E. A. (2019). Embracing complexity: Reviewing the past decade of team effectiveness research. *Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior*, 6(1), 17–46. doi:10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-012218-015106

- McAndrew, L. M., Lu, S. E., Rothman, D., Markowitz, S., Borders, A., & Quigley, K. S. (2017). Resilience during war: Better unit cohesion and reductions in avoidant coping are associated with better mental health function after combat deployment. *Psychological Trauma-Theory Research Practice and Policy*, 9(1), 52–61. doi:10.1037/tra0000152
- McHaney, R., George, J. F., & Gupta, M. (2018). An exploration of deception detection:
  Are groups more effective than individuals? *Communication Research*, 45(8), 1103–1121. doi:10.1177/0093650215607627
- McLeod, J., & Von Treuer, K. (2013). Towards a cohesive theory of cohesion. International Journal of Business and Social Research, 3(12). Retrieved from https://www.thejournalofbusiness.org/
- McNally, R. J., Hatch, J. P., Cedillos, E. M., Luethcke, C. A., Baker, M. T., Peterson, A. L., & Litz, B. T. (2011). Does the repressor coping style predict lower posttraumatic stress symptoms? *Military Medicine*, *176*(7), 752–756. doi:10.7205/MILMED-D-10-00429

Park, S., & Jang, M. K. (2019). Associations between workplace exercise interventions and job stress reduction: A systematic review. *Workplace Health & Safety*, 67(12), 592–601. doi:10.1177/2165079919864979

Pietrzak, R. H., Johnson, D. C., Goldstein, M. B., Malley, J. C., & Southwick, S. M. (2009). Psychological resilience and postdeployment social support protect against traumatic stress and depressive symptoms in soldiers returning from Operations Enduring Freedom and Iraqi Freedom. *Depression and Anxiety*, 26(8), 745–751. doi:10.1002/da.20558

Rapp, T. L., & Mathieu, J. E. (2019). Team and individual influences on members' identification and performance per membership in multiple team membership arrangements. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *104*(3), 303–320. doi:10.1037/apl0000344

- Renzulli, K. A. (2019, March 7). The most stressful job in America pays \$26,802—here are the other 9. CNBC. Retrieved from https://www.cnbc.com/2019/03/07/themost-stressful-jobs-in-america.html
- Severt, J. B., & Estrada, A. X. (2015). On the function and structure of group cohesion.
  In E. Salas, W. B. Vessey, & A. X. Estrada (Eds.) *Team cohesion: advances in psychological theory, methods and practice* (pp. 3-24). Bingley, England:
  Emerald Group Publishing Limited.

Steinhardt, M. A., Dolbier, C. L., Gottlieb, N. H., & McCalister, K. T. (2003). The relationship between hardiness, supervisor support, group cohesion, and job stress as predictors of job satisfaction. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 17(6), 382–389. doi:10.4278/0890-1171-17.6.382

Susskind, A. M., & Odom-Reed, P. R. (2019). Team member's centrality, cohesion, conflict, and performance in multi-university geographically distributed project teams. *Communication Research*, 46(2), 151–178. doi:10.1177/0093650215626972

- Tajfel, H., & Turner, J. C. (1979). An integrative theory of intergroup conflict. In W. G.
  Austin & S. Worchel (Eds.). *The social psychology of intergroup relations (pp. 33-47)*. Monterey, CA: Brooks Cole Publishing.
- Thomassen, Å. G., Hystad, S. W., Johnsen, B. H., Johnsen, G. E., Laberg, J. C., & Eid, J. (2015). The combined influence of hardiness and cohesion on mental health in a military peacekeeping mission: A prospective study. *Scandinavian Journal of Psychology*, 56(5), 560–566. doi:10.1111/sjop.12235
- Trank, C. Q., Rynes, S. L., & Bretz, R. D. (2002). Hiring Selectivity Scale. Journal of Business and Psychology, 16(3), 331–345. doi:10.1023/A:1012887605708
- Tseng, H. W., & Yeh, H.-T. (2013). Team members' perceptions of online teamwork learning experiences and building teamwork trust: A qualitative study. *Computers* & *Education*, 63, 1–9. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2012.11.013
- Tusaie, K., & Dyer, J. (2004). Resilience: A historical review of the construct. *Holistic Nursing Practice*, *18*(1), 3–10. doi:10.1097/00004650-200401000-00002

Urien, B., Osca, A., & García-Salmones, L. (2017). Role ambiguity, group cohesion and job satisfaction: A demands-resources model (JD-R) study from Mexico and Spain. *Revista Latinoamericana de Psicología*, 49(2), 137–145. doi:10.1016/j.rlp.2015.09.014

Van Der Meulen, E., Van Der Velden, P. G., Van Aert, R. C. M., & Van Veldhoven, M. J. P. M. (2020). Longitudinal associations of psychological resilience with mental health and functioning among military personnel: A meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Social Science & Medicine*, 255, 1-16. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2020.112814

Vanhove, A. J., & Herian, M. N. (2015). Team cohesion and individual wellbeing: A conceptual analysis and relational framework. In E. Salas, W. B. Vessey, & A. X. Estrada (Eds.) *Team cohesion: advances in psychological theory, methods and practice* (pp. 53-82). Bingley, England: Emerald Group Publishing Limited.

- Von Treuer, K., McLeod, J., Fuller-Tyszkiewicz, M., & Scott, G. (2018). Determining the components of cohesion using the repertory grid technique. *Group Dynamics: Theory, Research, and Practice,* 22(2), 108–128. doi:10.1037/gdn0000085
- Walsh, B. M., Matthews, R. A., Tuller, M. D., Parks, K. M., & McDonald, D. P. (2010).
  A multilevel model of the effects of equal opportunity climate on job satisfaction in the military. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, *15*(2), 191–207. doi:10.1037/a0018756

- Williams, J., Brown, J. M., Bray, R. M., Anderson Goodell, E. M., Rae Olmsted, K., & Adler, A. B. (2016). Unit cohesion, resilience, and mental health of soldiers in basic combat training. *Military Psychology*, 28(4), 241–250. doi:10.1037/mil0000120
- Woodruff, J. (2018, November 15). *Female vets who disable bombs find a path to healing: "Not everything in life is going to hurt you"*. PBS. Retrieved from https://www.pbs.org/newshour/brief/284021/jamie-mccrary-tiana-straub-and-judy-ellis
- Zang, Y., Gallagher, T., McLean, C. P., Tannahill, H. S., Yarvis, J. S., & Foa, E. B. (2017). The impact of social support, unit cohesion, and trait resilience on PTSD in treatment-seeking military personnel with PTSD: The role of posttraumatic cognitions. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 86, 18–25. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016.11.005
- Zhao, X., Wang, J., & Shi, C. (2020). The influence of mental resilience on the positive coping style of Air Force soldiers: A moderation- mediation model. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11, 1-7. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2020.00550

## Appendix A: Recruitment Invitation

## Dear EOD friends and family,

I am calling on all current Air Force Active Duty, National Guard, and Reserve EOD Airmen for some help. I am completing my dissertation entitled "Perceived Selectivity as a Moderator of Cohesion and Resilience in USAF EOD *Operators*" and I need your help to complete the study. This study is completely voluntary and to be completed off-duty, but will hopefully provide the EOD and Air Force community valuable insight as to the role that the selectivity of our career field plays between team cohesion and resilience. The survey will only take about 10-15 minutes to complete and will help me out greatly. The only criteria to complete the survey is that you are currently a current member of the United States Air Force Total Force EOD community (Active Duty, Guard, or Reserve), have completed NAVSCOLEOD, be over the age of 18, and not be facing any unfavorable military personnel actions (UCMJ violation, UIF, or be on a Control Roster). The survey itself is very straightforward and completely private, your name will never be asked, and even I will not know who does or does not complete the survey, I will only receive the data after the results have been submitted. I encourage you all to please complete the survey and help spread this survey to our Brother's and Sister's that may not have social media. *Here is the link to the survey:* 

Thank you so much for your participation in this study. And if you have any questions, please email me at

# Appendix B: CD-RISC Permission for Use

Jonathan Davidson, M.D.
Hello Chris:
Thank you for your reply and payment. It is my pleasure to enclose the scale and manual. Please let me know if you have any questions.
Good wishes for success with your dissertation research,
Jonathan Davidson
From: Chris Townsend
Sent: Tuesday, April 14, 2020 5:10 PM

# Appendix C: Hiring Selectivity Scale Permission for Use

Hiring	J Selectivity Scale	ĵ) 2∨
QC	Quinn Trank, Chris Wed 6/17/2020 9:09 AM To: Christopher Townsend	టి స స →
	Organizational Preferences S 15 KB	
	Hello Christopher:	
	I'm attaching the selectivity scale along wit been interesting to see the results in differ	h the introduction language for the full survey. Of course you may use the scale! I've shared the full survey over the years, and it has ant parts of the world and over time.
	Best of luck on your dissertation. That's a	urdle I'm glad is behind me 🎯.
	Let me know if I can be of further assistance	е.
	Best,	
	Chris	
	Christine Quinn Trank, Ph.D.	
	Director, Ed.D. in Leadership and Learning in Organization	
	Department of Leadership Policy and Organizations	
	Vanderbilt University	

# Appendix D: Informed Consent

sele	ctivity, team cohesion, and resiliency. The researcher is inviting current Active Duty, Guard, and
Res	erve United States Air Force Explosive Ordnance Disposal Operators in good standing to be in th
stu	ly. This form is part of a process called "informed consent" to allow you to understand this study
bef	pre deciding whether to take part.
This	s study is being conducted by a researcher named Christopher Townsend, who is a doctoral
stur	lent at Walden University. You might already know the researcher as an Explosive Ordnance
Dis	posal Team Leader, but this study is separate from that role.
Bac	kground Information:
The	purpose of this study is to better understand how the perceived selectivity of a team interacts
with	one's perception of their team cohesiveness as well as one's level of resiliency.
Pro	cedures:
If yo	ou agree to be in this study, you will be asked to:
	Take a short, one-time 10-15 minute survey.
•	Not provide your name or any specifically identifiable information to protect your Anonymity.
Her	e are some sample questions:
	I am able to adapt when changes occur.
•	Our team is united in trying to reach its goals for performance.
•	My team is very selective about who it hires.
Volu	intary Nature of the Study:
This	s study is voluntary. You are free to accept or turn down the invitation. No one at the Air Force will
trea	t you differently if you decide not to be in the study. If you decide to be in the study now, you can
still	change your mind later. You may stop at any time.
Ris	ks and Benefits of Being in the Study:
Bei	ng in this type of study involves some risk of the minor discomforts that can be encountered in
dail	y life, such as fatigue or stress from looking at a computer screen. Being in this study would not
pos	e risk to your safety or wellbeing.

The benefits for this study are to the Explosive Ordnance Disposal community and the Air Force. First, this study will provide an introspective look at the state of cohesion and resilience in the EOD community. Secondly, we may be able to use this study to further our understanding of what affects resilience and cohesion in order to one day be able to create interventions that help non-selective teams in the Air Force create a sense of belonging that may help foster cohesion and resilience.

2
## Townsend Dissertation Study

Informed Consent Page 2

Payment:

There will be no payment offered for completion of the online survey.

Privacy:

Reports coming out of this study will not share the identities of individual participants. Details that might identify participants, such as the location of the study, also will not be shared. Even the researcher will not know who you are. The researcher will not use your personal information for any purpose outside of this research project. Data will be kept secure on a thumb drive that is password protected and kept in a locked personal safe when not in use. Data will be kept for a period of at least 5 years, as required by the university.

Contacts and Questions:

You may ask any questions you have now. Or if you have questions later, you may contact the researcher via email at the researcher via email at the research participant and the research part

Please print or save this consent form for your records.

\* 1. Obtaining Your Consent

If you feel you understand the study well enough to make a decision about it, please indicate your consent by clicking Yes to complete the questionnaire.

Yes

O No

## Appendix E: Survey Exit Page

## Completion Thank you for your participation in this survey, it is not possible to conduct this research without your cooperation and I am truly grateful. Please click the "Submit" button below to send your answers. I will announce the results of the survey through social media when they are completed in you are interested in finding out the results of this study. Furthermore, if you have any questions please feel free to email me at